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September 30, 2019

To the Board of Education and Citizens of Wicomico County:

The Board of Education of Wicomico County’s (Board) Comprehensive Annual Financial Report
(CAFR) for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019 is submitted herewith pursuant to the Annotated
Code of the State of Maryland, section 5-109. The CAFR is a thorough and detailed presentation of
the Board’s financial position, activities and balances for the fiscal year then ended.

This letter of transmittal, prepared by management, should be read in conjunction with Management
Discussion and Analysis and is intended to introduce the Board’s CAFR. The responsibility for both
the accuracy of the data and the completeness of the CAFR rests with the management of the Board.
The Board’s comprehensive framework of internal controls provides assurance of the accuracy of the
information included in the CAFR. Because the cost of internal controls should not exceed
anticipated benefits, the objective is to provide reasonable rather than absolute assurance that the
financial statements are free of any material misstatements. This report was prepared by the
Department of Business Support Services and to the best of our knowledge and belief the enclosed
data is complete and accurate in all material respects and is reported in a manner which presents
fairly the financial position and results of operations of the Board.

The financial statements of the Board have been audited by TGM Group LLC, certified public
accountants and they have issued an unmodified opinion on the Board’s financial statements for the
fiscal year ended June 30, 2019. The auditor’s opinion is presented as the first component of the
financial section of the CAFR.

The Board, in compliance with Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements,
Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance), has issued a separate
Compliance Report. The report includes the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards as well as
the auditor’s report on internal control over financial reporting and the report on the Board’s
compliance with requirements applicable to major Federal Awards.



Reporting Entity Profile

The Board of Education of Wicomico County is one of twenty-four (24) school systems established
by law in the state of Maryland. The school systems consist of the twenty-three (23) counties and
the City of Baltimore. Each county board of education is a body politic and corporate. The Board of
Education of Wicomico County (Board) was established in 1867 and is ranked 15th in the state of
Maryland according to student enrollment which as of September 30, 2018 was 14,949. Countywide
population for Wicomico was 103,195 in 2018, which represents the most current data available.

The Board’s mission is to provide all students an educational foundation and a set of skills which
will enable them to become responsible and productive citizens in our society. The governing body
of the school system is the Board of Education which is composed of seven (7) members. As a result
of a county referendum, effective December 2018 the seven (7) member board became an elected
board for the first time. Five (5) of the members are elected by voters within the voters' council
district and two (2) are elected at-large members. The Board of Education determines educational
policy and employs a superintendent of schools for a four-year term to administer the school system.

During the 2018-2019 school year, the school system served 14,949 students (a decrease of 4
students from the prior year) in seventeen (17) elementary schools, seven (7) secondary schools, one
career-technology high school program, one evening high school, an alternative learning program,
and an early learning program. Enrollment for next school year is projected to increase modestly (40
students). The ratio of professional staff (including administrators, teacher, counselors and
therapists) to students for the 2018-2019 school year was approximately one staff member to 13
students. Student demographics for the 2018-2019 school year included: 63.3% students that
qualified for free/reduced meals; 11.5% students with disabilities; and 7.5% students that were
English Language Learners. In June 2019, the school system graduated 917 students. For school
year 2018-2019 there were no charter schools operating in the county.

In accordance with state law the Board of Education developed in 2002 a Comprehensive Master
Plan. The 2018-2019 school year marked the sixteenth year of implementation of the strategic plan.
The plan is organized around the school system’s three (3) strategic priorities of High Student
Achievement, Safe Learning Environment, and Effective and Efficient Operations. Progress is
reported through annual updates of the Comprehensive Master Plan with the Maryland State
Department of Education (MSDE). Such updates are available on the MSDE website.

The Board is a component unit of Wicomico County, Maryland, and is fiscally dependent on
Wicomico County and the State of Maryland to appropriate funding for its operations. The Board
has no authority to levy taxes or issue bonded debt. Accordingly, the financial condition of the
Board is impacted by the financial condition of these funding authorities. During FY 2019 the Board
received 21.1% of its district-wide revenues for operations (current expense) from Wicomico County
compared to 70.5% from the State of Maryland. Chart 1 reveals a history of district-wide revenues,
comparing the sources of funds. Since FY 2010, local county aid for education has decreased from
$50.8 million to $44.2 million, a decrease of $6.6 million, or 13%. Federal aid has increased since
FY 2010 by $1.8 million. State aid during that same period increased by $34.3 million. Overall,
revenues for our school system have increased by $28.5 million since FY 2010, or 15.8%, while
national inflation during that same time period increased 18.9%.



Chart 1 - District-wide (current expense fund) revenue components
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Approximately 2.4 million square feet of building space is maintained by the Board. Of the 27
school buildings in our inventory, over half of them have aged more than 25 years since either their
original or last major renovation. The average age of our inventory is now 37 years. The oldest
building in use is Wicomico Middle School which has a major structure which was built in 1931.
The newest facility in use, West Salisbury Elementary, was completed and opened for students in
September 2018. It provides approximately 61,000 square feet. Our school buildings are multi-
purpose facilities, serving many community groups and organizations for meetings and recreational
use when school is not in session.

Assessment of the School System’s Economic Condition

Wicomico County has slowly begun to recover from the traumatic effects of the 2008 — 2009 economic
tsunami, however it continues to retain its place in state-wide wealth per pupil numbers at next to last
in the state. Thanks to a very conservative approach to budgeting on the part of our county
government, a significant unassigned fund balance has been accumulated ($32.7 million) as of June
30,2018. This is in addition to the County’s Rainy-Day fund balance of $7.6 million, which represents
approximately 5.3% of the County’s FY 2018 operating budget. In prior years, the County Executive’s
and County Council’s view of the large fund balance has been to utilize a portion to fund one-time
capital expenditures versus funding on-going operating costs.

Wicomico County Public Schools has no taxing authority and is totally dependent on contributions
from the county and state along with grant funding awarded from the state and federal governments
for its operating revenue. Capital projects are reflected in the planned spending of county and state
funds detailed in our 5-year Capital Improvement Plan (CIP) and must be submitted annually to the
county and state for their approval before any funding commitments. The Capital Projects Fund budget
and projections recognize the reality of the economic situation facing our state and county. While our
S5-year CIP presents our school system’s major school construction needs, the 3-year budget
projections in this document reflect the reality of what we can expect.

Long range planning used in our budgeting process is based on historical trends and also assumptions
about the future. Assumptions include consumer price index, enrollment, negotiations, student



participation, and upcoming required Federal and State mandates.

Long-term Financial Planning

During FY 2020 we are projecting general fund revenues to increase by approximately $11.8
million, while on-going costs of doing business (fixed costs), additional instructional and
departmental needs are projected to increase $14 million. Consequently, the school system worked
to realign and reorganize $2.2 million budgeted funds where possible as a method of cost avoidance
and reduce the need to request new funding. This process was used to enable us to balance the FY
2020 budget since adequate revenues were not available to meet ongoing needs.

As indicated in last year’s CAFR, a very significant piece of legislation that passed in 2012 involved
the state legislature pushing back pension costs to local governments. That legislation required the
Board to submit $4.1 million to the state toward state teacher pension costs in FY 2016, previously
100% funded by the state. The bill also required our local county government to appropriate, in
addition to MOE, an amount of $3.2 million for FY 2016, so as to partially offset the additional costs
imposed by the state. Commencing in FY 2017, the requirement for county governments to provide
funding specifically to support this mandated funding ceased. Boards of Education are now required
to pay the “normal cost” of retirement for all qualifying employees based upon current salaries. The
Board’s pension cost for FY 2019 was $4.6 million and the additional funding requirement for these
pension costs in FY 2019 had to come from other sources, once again placing pressure on available
resources in order to fund classroom initiatives.

Major School System Initiatives

Funding for the major program initiatives included for FY 2020:

e Plan for and review the implementation of the Universal Prekindergarten initiative in an
effort to increase the percentage of students who enter kindergarten ready to learn as
measured by the Kindergarten Readiness Assessment

e Continue our focus of recruiting and retaining a high-performing workforce to build and
maintain a well-functioning school system

Discussion of ideas and continued planning to increase the percentage of students graduating from
Wicomico County Public Schools college and/or career ready will continue during outlying years to:
0 Develop and implement alternative career-connected pathways and signature
programs for middle and high school students
0 Expand alternative academic pathways that lead to graduation including online
learning, dual enrollment and early college opportunities
0 Create flexible learning environments for students which will promote student
strengths, interests and needs connecting student interests to real-world learning
opportunities
0 Continue to enhance our instruction for our growing English Language Learner (ELL)
student population

One of Wicomico County Public Schools’ greatest challenges is the growing segment of our student
population the state identifies as “At-Risk”. We are working to address the social and emotional needs
exhibited in this student population. Specifically, this segment of our student population as a percent
of our full-time equivalent (FTE) student enrollment for state aid purposes has grown exponentially



over the past 10 years from 62.6% to 77.6% of our student population. This at-risk percentage ranks
Wicomico as 5th highest in the state. The student make-up of this population includes our English
Language Learners (ELL), Special Education, and students qualifying for Free and Reduced Meals
(FARMS). Servicing our At-Risk students requires additional staff, instructional time, and supplies
so that WCPS can effectively work towards closing achievement gaps and provide these students with
every opportunity to attain proficiency in their academic achievements. With this increase comes a
higher cost per pupil.

Budgetary Controls

The Board maintains a system of budgeting and accounting controls designed to assist management
in meeting its responsibilities for reporting financial information. These controls provide reasonable
assurance that assets are safe-guarded and transactions are executed and recorded with
management’s authorization. Account managers are held responsible via this system for assuring
that expenditures are planned and made in accordance with approved budgets.

The Board prepares an annual Consolidated Current Expense Budget in accordance with Maryland
law. The budget document provides budgets for the Governmental Funds and Proprietary Funds of
the Board. The Governmental Funds consist of the General Fund (unrestricted current expense), the
Special Revenue Fund (restricted current expense), and the Capital Projects Fund. The Proprietary
Fund consists of the Board’s Food Service operation.

The proposed budget is required to be submitted to the Wicomico County Executive by March 15%
of each year. The Wicomico County Council provides final approval and notifies the Board of its
appropriation by late May or early June. The Board finalizes and approves its budget in late June.
The General Fund (unrestricted current expense) is adopted by categories (e.g., administration,
instructional salaries, special education) as prescribed in Maryland State law. Transfers between
categories during the year require Wicomico County Council approval.

Annual operating budgets for Special Revenue Funds (restricted current expense) from state and
federal grants must receive grantor approval. For over 95% of our grants, the state of Maryland
serves as the grantor agency. The grants are also reviewed with the Board of Education upon award.
Budget amendments to grants require grantor approval.

The Capital Projects Fund budget is developed after the County approves their annual Capital
Improvement Plan (CIP), usually in early March, and after the state adopts their annual capital
budget in early April. This budget accounts for appropriations specifically earmarked for new
construction, renovations, and major systemic maintenance projects in accordance with state law.

The lone proprietary budget, the Food Service Fund, is prepared and approved through a separate
review process involving the Department of Food Services, the Department of Business Support
Services, and the Board of Education. This collaborative effort ensures compliance with all
applicable federal and state laws involving accounting for USDA commodities, USDA funding for
free and reduced eligible meals, and local student payments.



Awards

The Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA) awarded a
Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to the Board of Education of
Wicomico County for its comprehensive annual financial report (CAFR) for the fiscal year ended
June 30, 2018. This is the ninth consecutive year that the Board achieved this prestigious award. In
order to be awarded a Certificate of Achievement, a government unit must publish an easily readable
and efficiently organized comprehensive annual financial report. This report must satisfy both
generally accepted accounting principles and applicable legal requirements. A Certificate of
Achievement is valid for a period of one year only. We believe that our current CAFR continues to
meet the Certificate of Achievement Program’s requirements and are submitting it to the GFOA to
determine its eligibility for another certificate.

The Association of School Business Officials International (ASBO) has awarded a Certificate of
Excellence in Financial Reporting to the Board of Education of Wicomico County for its
comprehensive annual financial report for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018. This award is the
highest form of recognition in school system financial reporting issued by ASBO International and is
valid for one year. This is the ninth consecutive year that the Board was awarded the ASBO
Certificate of Excellence in Financial Reporting. We believe that our current CAFR continues to
meet the Certificate of Excellence Program’s requirements and are submitting it to ASBO for
consideration.

The Board of Education of Wicomico County also received from ASBO the Meritorious Budget
Award (MBA) for its annual budget document for the year beginning July 1, 2019. This is the ninth
consecutive year that the Board has received the MBA from ASBO International.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

The Board of Education of Wicomico County
Salisbury, Maryland

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the
business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of The
Board of Education of Wicomico County, a component unit of Wicomico County, Maryland, as
of and for the year ended June 30, 2019, and the related notes to the financial statements,
which collectively comprise the Board’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of
contents.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control
relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government
Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

955 Mt. Hermon Road | Salisbury, MD 21804 | 410-742-1328 | 1-888-546-1574
114 Bay Street, Building A | PO Box 627 | Easton, MD 21601 | 410-822-4008



An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinions.

Opinions

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities,
each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of The Board of Education of
Wicomico County as of June 30, 2019, and the respective changes in financial position and,
where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Other Matters
Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the
management’s discussion and analysis on pages 16 through 25, schedule of funding progress
and employer contributions on page 71, schedule of OPEB liability on page 72, schedule of
proportionate share of net pension liability on page 73, schedule of board contributions on
page 74, schedule of changes in employer’s net pension liability and related ratios on page 75,
schedule of revenues and expenditures — budget and actual — general fund on pages 76-77,
schedule of revenues and expenditures — budget and actual — special revenue on page 78, and
notes to required supplementary information on pages 79 through 83 be presented to
supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic
financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who
considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial
statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied
certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of
inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the
information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial
statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial
statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information
because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an
opinion or provide any assurance.
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Other Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that
collectively comprise The Board of Education of Wicomico County’s basic financial statements.
The introductory section, additional supplementary information, and statistical sections, as
listed in the table of contents, are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a
required part of the basic financial statements.

The additional supplementary information, as listed in the table of contents, is the
responsibility of management and was derived from and relate directly to the underlying
accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. Such information
has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial
statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such
information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic
financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional
procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. In our opinion, the additional supplementary information is fairly stated in all
material respects in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.

The introductory and statistical sections have not been subjected to the auditing procedures
applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and, accordingly, we do not express an
opinion or provide any assurance on them.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued a separate report
dated September 30, 2019 on our consideration of The Board of Education of Wicomico
County's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of
that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting
and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on internal
control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering The Board of
Education of Wicomico County’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

Salisbury, Maryland
September 30, 2019
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THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF WICOMICO COUNTY

Management'’s Discussion and Analysis
Year Ended June 30, 2019

This section of the Board of Education of Wicomico County’s (Board) comprehensive annual
financial report (CAFR) provides management’s narrative, overview and analysis of the financial
performance of the Board for the fiscal year that ended on June 30, 2019. Please read this analysis
in conjunction with the Letter of Transmittal located in the introduction of this report and the
Board’s financial statements, which follow this section.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
e The Board’s financial status improved during FY 2019 when compared to net position from
FY 2018. It increased by $5.4 million, or 2.4%,
0 Overall revenues were $249.3 million and expenses $243.8 million
0 Net investment in capital assets of the Board increased by $11.8 million as the
Board continues to invest in updating older school facilities
e The Board’s total net position is $226.3 million.
e At the end of the current fiscal year, the Board’s governmental funds reported combined
fund balances of $17.9 million, a decrease of 0.9 million from FY 2018.

e The unassigned fund balance in the General Fund of $3.3 million, an increase of 1.1 million
from the previous fiscal year.

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
In addition to Management’s Discussion and Analysis, this section of the CAFR contains the
financial statements which consist of the parts as noted in Table 1.

The basic financial statements consist of two types of Table 1. Requircd Components of board’s
statements: district-wide financial statements and fund
financial statements.

District-wide financial statements “oicusion Financil Supplementry
These statements report information about the Anabsts s e
Board as a whole using accounting methods
similar to those used by private-sector
companies. There are two district-wide .
statements: =

1) Statement of net position - includes
all of the Board’s assets and liabilities District-Wide o To the
and reflects the difference (net Statements Statements Satements
position) between the assets and
liabilities which is one way to
measure the financial health of an Summary < > Detail

entity.

2) Statement of activities which reflects the current year’s revenues and expenses
regardless of when cash is received or paid.
» Over time, increases or decreases in the Board’s net position is an indicator
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of whether its financial position is improving or deteriorating, respectively.

» To assess the overall health of the Board additional non-financial factors
such as changes in the condition of school buildings and other facilities must
be considered.

In the district-wide financial statements the Board’s activities are divided into two
categories:

» Governmental activities - Most of the Board’s basic services are included here,
such as regular and special education, transportation, administration,
operations, maintenance, and community services. County and state aid
finance the majority of these activities.

» Business-type activities — The Board accounts for all of the Food Service
activities here.

Fund Financial Statements
The fund financial statements provide more detailed information about the District’s funds
- focusing on its most significant or “major” funds - not the District as a whole. Funds are
accounting devices the District uses to keep track of specific sources of funding and
spending on particular programs. Some funds are required by State law, while the Board
establishes other funds to control and manage money for particular purposes or to show
that it is properly using certain revenues (e.g., federal grants).
The District has three kinds of funds:

» Governmental funds - Most of the district’s basic services are included in
governmental funds, which generally focus on (1) cash and other financial assets
that can readily be converted to cash flow in and out, and (2) the balances left at
year-end that are available for spending. Consequently, the governmental funds
statements provide a detailed short-term view that helps to determine whether
there are more or fewer financial resources that can be spent in the near future to
finance the Board’s programs. Because this information does not encompass the
additional long-term focus of the government-wide statements, we have provided
additional information to explain the relationship (or differences) between them.

» Proprietary funds - The Food Service operation is the only fund accounted for as a
proprietary fund. Proprietary funds are reported the same way as business-type
activities in the government-wide statements.
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» Fiduciary funds - The District is the trustee, or agent, for assets that belong to
others, such as the Employees Retirement Plan and the 401(a) Employer Matching
Plan. The School Activities Fund is also accounted for as a fiduciary fund. The
District is responsible for ensuring that the assets reported in these funds are used
only for their intended purposes and by those to whom the assets belong. These
activities are excluded from the government-wide financial statements because the
District cannot use these assets to finance its operations.

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE BOARD AS A WHOLE

Net position — the Board’s combined net position was $226.3 million on June 30, 2019. This is an
increase of 5.4 million, or 2.4 %, when compared to FY 2018 net position. The Board’s unrestricted
net position is negative due to the implementation of GASB 75, which now requires state and local
governments to report the liability of Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB). The Board’s net
OPEB liability for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2019 was $115.7 million.

Table 2
THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF WICOMICO COUNTY
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
(in millions of dollars)
Governmental Business-Type Board of Ed Change
Activities Activities Total 2019 - 2018
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 $ %

Current and other assets $40.3 $40.4 $3.4 $2.7 $43.7  $43.1 $0.6 1.4%
Capital Assets $317.1  $305.3 $0.6 $0.6 $317.7 $305.9 $11.8 3.9%

TOTAL ASSETS $357.4 $345.7 $4.0 $3.3 $361.4 $349.0 $12.4 3.6%
Deferred Outflows - Pensions $23.1 $4.0 $0.0 $0.0 $23.1 $4.0 $19.1  483.5%
Current Liabilities $23.7 $23.0 $0.2 $0.2 $23.8  $23.2 $0.6 2.7%
Long-Term Liabilities $130.3 $106.1 $0.0 $0.0 $130.3 $106.1 $24.2  22.8%

TOTAL LIABILITIES $154.0 $129.1 $0.2 $0.2 $154.1 $129.3 $24.8 19.2%
Deferred Inflows - Pensions $4.0 $2.8 $0.0 $0.0 $4.0 $2.8 $1.2 44.6%
Net Position

Net Investment in Capital Assets $314.6 $302.7 $0.6 $0.6 $315.2 $303.3 $11.9 3.9%

Restricted $2.5 $7.4 $0.0 $0.0 $2.5 $7.4 -$4.9 -66.0%

Unrestricted -$94.6 -$92.3 $3.2 $2.5 -$91.4 -$89.8 -$1.6 1.8%

TOTAL NET POSITION $222.5 $217.8 $3.8 $3.1 $226.3 $220.9 $5.4 2.3%
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Changes in net position - the District’s total revenues were $249.3 million for the year ended June
30, 2019 (See Table 3). The county appropriation and state formula aid accounted for
approximately 71.2% of total revenue for the year. Another 28.5% came from program revenues
which consist of federal and state grants and capital contributions.

The total cost of all programs and services was $243.8 million. The District’s expenses are
predominantly related to providing direct educational services to students, 77.2%, while support
services for students composes another 19.8%. The purely administrative activities of the District
accounted for approximately 3.1%. Total revenue exceeded total expenses by $5.5 million.

Table 3
THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF WICOMICO COUNTY
CHANGES IN NET POSITION
(in millions of dollars)

Total
Governmental Business-Type Board of Ed Percentage
Activities Activities Total Change
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019-2018

Program revenues

Charges for services $0.6 $0.5 $1.2 $1.2 $1.8 $1.7 5.9%

Federal and state grants $426  $39.5 $6.8 $6.4 $49.4  $45.9 7.6%

Capital Contributions $19.9  $30.1 $0.0 $0.0 $19.9  $30.1 -33.9%
General revenues

County Appro. for operations $44.2 $43.6 $0.0 $0.0 $44.2 $43.6 1.4%

State formula aid $133.3 $130.6 $0.0 $0.0 $133.3 $130.6 2.1%

Other $0.7 $0.4 $0.0 $0.0 $0.7 $0.4 75.0%

TOTAL REVENUE $241.3 $244.7 $8.0 $7.6 $249.3 $252.3 -1.2%
Expenses:
Instruction & Special Ed $188.1 $173.7 $0.0 $0.0 $188.1 $173.7 8.3%
Administration $7.5 $7.5 $0.0 $0.0 $7.5 $7.5 0.0%
Support Services $40.6  $40.7 $7.7 $7.9 $48.3  $48.6 -0.6%

TOTAL EXPENSES $236.1 $221.9 $7.7 $7.9  $243.8 $229.8 6.1%
Excess(deficiency) before contributions,

special & extraordinary items

and transfers $5.2 $22.8 $0.3 ($0.3) $5.5 $22.5 -75.6%
Transfers: ($0.5) (%0.6) $0.5 $0.6 $0.0 $0.0 0.0%

Incr. (decr.) in net position $47 $22.2 $0.8 $0.3 $5.5 $22.5 -75.6%
Net Position - beg. Year $217.8 $195.6 $3.1 $2.8 $220.9 $198.4 11.3%
Net Position - end of year $222.5 $217.8 $3.8 $3.1  $226.4 $220.9 2.5%
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Governmental Activities

e Net position increased $4.7 million in FY 2019
* Revenues decreased $3,463,192 attributable to a net of:
O capital contributions decreased $10.2 million

0 state formula aid for operations increased $2.7 million

o0 federal and state grants increased $3 million

See Chart 1.a and 1.b below for a breakdown of the District’s revenues as a percentage of total

revenue for FY 2019 and 2018.

GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES - REVENUES

| FY 2019 |
REVENUE: $ %
Charges for senices 645,218 0.3%
Federal and state grants 42,563,373 17.6%
Capital Contributions 19,930,075 8.3%
County Appro. for operations 44164012 18.3%
State formula aid 133,283,580 55.2%
Other 686,651 0.3%  Other

241,272,908 100.0%

REVENUE:
Charges for senices
Federal and state grants
Capital Contributions
County Appro. for operations
State formula aid

FY 2018 [ | Incr (Decr)

39,544,099 16.2%
30,136,364  12.3%
43,605,002 17.8%
130,570,137 534%

$244,736.099 100.0%

3 % $ %

470,219 0.2%

410,280 0.2%

174,999 37.2%
3,019,274 7.6%
(10,206,289)  -33.9%
559,010 1.3%
2,713,443 2.1%
276,371 67.4%
($3463.192)  :14%

Chart 1.a
WCBOE REVENUES
FY 2019 Other, 0.3%

Federaland

Charges for
state grants,

services, 0.3%____

County
Appro. for
operations,
18.3%

—~17.6%  capital
Contributions
, 8.3%

| County Appro.
for
operations,
17.8%

Chart 1.b
WCBOE REVENUES  11er 0.2%
FY 2018 _~ '
_~~ Federaland
Charges for state grants,
services,0.2%____ _~ ~16.2%

Capital

Contributions,

12.3%
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Governmental-type Activities

Charts 2.a and 2.b disclose the breakdown of expenses for FY 2019 and 2018 for Governmental
Activities. The Charts and line items disclose what percentage each major component of
expenditures is to the total for each year. Instruction and Special Education costs make up
approximately 79.7% of total expenses, while support services, which includes expenses
associated with student personnel services, student health services, facility operations and
maintenance and student transportation compose another 17.2% of all costs. Administration
remains low at 3.2% of total expenses.

GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES - EXPENSES

| FY 2019 | | FY 2018 |
EXPENSES: $ % EXPENSES: $ %
Instruction & Special Ed $188,070,340 79.7% Instruction & Special Ed $173,749,967 78.3%
Admin. $7,470,741 3.2% Admin. $7,514,341 3.4%
Support Services $40,563,554 17.2% Support Senvices $40,689,995 18.3%
$236,104635 100.0% $221954303 100.0%
Chart 2.a Chart2.b
WCBOE EXPENSES WCBOE EXPENSES
FY 2019 FY 2018
Support Support
Services Services
17.2% 18.3%
Admin. Admin.

3.2%

Instruction Instruction
& Special & Special
Ed Ed
79.7% 78.3%

Business-type Activities {Refer to Table 2 and 3 for details}

The District’s only business-type activity, the Food Service operation, had an increase in net
position of $758,707 in FY 2019. Since FY 2008, the Board’s General Fund Budget has provided
support to the Food Service operation in the form of an inter-fund transfer. In FY 2019 the
transfer was $450,000, down $150,000 from the previous year. The inter-fund transfer was
further reduced by $300,000 (down to $150,000) in FY 2020.

20



THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF WICOMICO COUNTY

Management'’s Discussion and Analysis
Year Ended June 30, 2019

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE DISTRICT’S FUNDS

The financial performance of the District as a whole is reflected in its governmental funds as well.
As the District completed the year, its governmental funds reported a combined fund balance of
$17.9 million, a decrease of $0.9 million over last year’s ending fund balance. Revenues for the
District’s governmental funds were $241.3 million, a decrease of $3.5 million over the prior year.
There was a decrease in expenditures of $3.7 million which totaled $241.8 million.

General Fund

The General Fund includes the primary operations of the District in providing educational services
to students from pre-kindergarten through grade 12, including pupil transportation and the
maintenance and operation of all school facilities. See Table 4 for a summary of General Fund
revenues and expenditures.

Table 4
GENERAL FUND REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES
$ %
FY 2019 FY 2018 Incr (Decr) Incr. (Decr.)
REVENUES $ 203,253,681 $ 200,180,163 $ 3,073,518 1.5%
EXPENDITURES $ 204,361,647 $ 201,867,205 $ 2,494,442 1.2%
$ (1,107,966) $ (1,687,042) $ 579,076 -34.3%
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Increase in Rate Stabilization Reserve $ (1,509,020) $ 32,353 $ (1,541,373) -4764.2%
Capital Lease Proceeds 1,653,624 1,681,686 (28,062) -1.7%
Interfund Transfers - Special Revenue 1,250,265 976,394 273,871 28.0%
Interfund Transfers - Capital Projects - - - 100.0%
Interfund Transfers - Other (450,000) (600,000) 150,000 -25.0%
$ 944,869 $ 2,090,433 $ (1,145,564) -54.8%
EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) of Revenues & Other
Financing Sources (Uses) over Expenditures $ (163,097) $ 403,391 $ (566,488) 140.4%

Revenues increased by $3.1 million largely as a result of an increase in state aid of $2 million. The
increase in state aid was in large part due to the increase in the consumer price index multiplier of
0.75%, and the fact that Wicomico County has the second lowest wealth per pupil in the state.
Wicomico’s 9/30/2017 full time equivalent (FTE) enroliment, which determined our FY 2019 state
aid, increased by 0.5 students over 9/30/2016.
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Special Revenue Fund (Restricted Grant Funds)

This fund is used to account for grants from Federal, State, and Local sources. Grants provide a
major source of revenue for specific educational programs not funded by the General Fund.
Programs include initiatives for Special Education students and disadvantaged students. Table 5
below reflects an increase in grant funds over the prior year, largely due to increased Title I, Part A,
Pre-Kindergarten Expansion, and Science, Technology, Research, Environment, Art, & Math
(STREAM) grant expenditures.

Table 5
SPECIAL REVENUE FUND
Fiscal Year  Fiscal Year Increase %

FY 2019 FY 2018 (Decrease) Incr. (Decr.)

REVENUES
Federal Through State $ 15,343,287 $ 12,909,267 $ 2,434,020 18.85%
State of Maryland 1,766,464 1,077,390 689,074 63.96%
Other 979,401 432,915 546,486 126.23%
TOTAL REVENUES § 18,089,152 § 14.419.572 § 3,669,580 25.45%

Capital Projects Fund

The Board has no legal authority to issue bonded indebtedness or borrow funds. All funds for
school construction come from either the transfer of bond proceeds from our County selling
Capital Bonds or from State Aid through the Maryland Public School Construction Program
(PSCP). During FY 2019, the Board recorded PSCP aid of $11.6 million. These funds were used
predominantly for the construction costs associated with the multiple systemic renovation
projects at Parkside High School and Delmar Elementary School. During FY 2019, the Board
utilized approximately $184,000 of School Construction Savings Funds (SCSF) to subsidize state and
county funding for capital projects. The remaining balance in the SCSF at June 30, 2019 is $1.16
million. This balance is currently allocated to future projects as follows: $575,000 for Delmar
Elementary limited renovation, $200,000 for Parkside High limited renovation, and $385,000 for
deferred maintenance projects.

Proprietary Fund

Our school system has one proprietary fund and that is our Food Service Fund. This fund is
accounted for as an enterprise fund in which fees are charged to external users for goods and
services, much in the same way as business-type activities. Our Food Service Fund is faced with
the reality of decreasing revenues and increasing expenditures in order to provide the required
food and nutritional services to our students. Fortunately, in FY 2019, net position increased
$758,707 in large part due to the subsidy from the Board’s General Fund. This increase in net
position has resulted in the Board reducing its subsidy in FY 2020 by $300,000.
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Fiduciary Fund
The following funds are accounted for as Fiduciary Funds:

(1) Pension Trust Funds:
* Retirement Plan for Employees of the Board of Education of Wicomico County covers all
Board employees not eligible for the State Teachers Retirement or Pension Systems. Total
assets as of June 30, 2019 were approximately $24.2 million (see footnotes 9 and 10 for
more detail information).

* 401(a) Retirement Plan is a self-directed defined contribution plan. All employees, 18
years and older, are eligible and Board contributions are based upon employees’
contributions to the Board’s 403(b) Tax Sheltered Annuity Program. Total assets as of June
30, 2019 were S4.4 million (see footnote 9 and 10 for more detail information).

e Retiree Health Insurance Plan Trust (OPEB Trust) was established by the Board in June
2006 in order to fund the health care costs of retirees. Total assets as of June 30, 2019
were approximately $22.75 million (see footnote 7 and 10 for more detail information).

(2) Private Purpose Trust Funds: Assets are held and managed by the Board as a result of funds
received from various sources for specific purposes such as student scholarships and awards. Total
assets equaled $204,537 as of June 30, 2019.

(3) Agency Funds: During FY 2019 the Board’s 24 schools collected receipts and incurred
disbursements for various student activities (see Table 6). The Board contracts with an
independent Certified Public Accountant to perform an audit of these agency funds on an annual
basis. Please refer to the separately issued audited financial statements for the School Activities
Fund for specific details and results of the audit.

Table 6
SCHOOL ACTIVITIES FUND
Fiscal Year  Fiscal Year Increase %

FY 2019 FY 2018 (Decrease) Incr. (Decr.)
Additions $ 2,503,383 $ 2,586,219 $ (82,836) -3.20%
Deductions 2,385,634 2,494,030 (108,396) -4.35%
Due to School Activity Groups - Beginning 525,216 433,027 92,189 21.29%
Due to School Activity Groups - Ending $ 642,965 $ 525216 $ 117,749 22.42%
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General Fund Budgetary Highlights

Original budget compared to final budget

The FY 2019 General Fund budget increased $2.7 million. The increase was in large part made
possible by $2.4 million in additional state aid. With this revenue increase, the Board was able to
fund the increase in on-going cost of doing business of $2.2 million and 10.0 instructional positions
to address phase 1 of Wicomico County Public Schools’ Prekindergarten initiative.

The Board did require one budget transfer needing County Council approval to revise the General
Fund budget during the year: $265,000 — to fund four COMAR required contractual one-on-one
nurses.

Other budget transfers approved involved object level transfers which only require Board of
Education approval. Major object level transfers included:

e 597,500 — to realign funding into proper state object for replacement of school vision
machines (13) for the testing of student eyesight
e $90,000 - for replacement of failed technology in school classrooms

Final budget compared to actual results

Revenue estimates for budgetary purposes were very close to actual. The total variance was only
$200,282 or 0.10% of budget.

Expenditure budget estimates exceeded actuals by $3.1 million, or about 1.6%. This excess was
due in large part to actual transfers coming in under budget by $1.3 million, comprised of a
positive Delaware Tuition Exchange in FY2019 and very few required special education non-public
placements.

CAPITAL ASSETS AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION

Capital Assets
By the end of FY 2019, the District had invested in a broad range of capital assets, including

construction in progress, land, buildings and improvements, furniture, fixtures, equipment, and
vehicles, which net of depreciation equaled $317.7 million. (More detailed information about
capital assets can be found in Note 5 to the financial statements.) Total depreciation expense for
the year was $12.1 million.

Construction - Next Five Years

Annually, the Board of Education prepares and submits to the State Inter-Agency Commission for
School Construction and to the Wicomico County Executive a 5-Year Capital Improvement Program
(CIP). The Board’s FY 2020 CIP, submitted in October 2018, requested $9.9 million from the
county and $13.8 million from the state for FY 2020 capital needs. The FY 2020 requests that were
approved by the state and county are as follows:
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e Beaver Run Elementary — $7 million from the county and $7.4 million from the State to
fund complete school replacement construction

e Delmar Elementary — $3.3 million from the state to fund limited renovation — multiple
systemics

e Mardela High/Middle — $291,000 from the county to fund renovation/addition —
studies/planning

FACTORS BEARING ON THE DISTRICT’S FUTURE

The most recent legislative session resulted in an important piece of legislation regarding the
future funding of education in Maryland. Senate Bill 1030 establishes The Blueprint for Maryland’s
Future as State education policy, based on the recommendations of the Commission on Innovation
and Excellence in Education (Commission). The bill establishes specified programs and entities;
provides funding in fiscal 2020; and mandates funding in fiscal 2021 and 2022, as specified,
including for The Blueprint for Maryland’s Future Fund, which succeeds the Commission’s special
fund. The bill also establishes a Maryland Office of the Inspector General for Education, contingent
on the release of specified funds. Any funds restricted for purposes of the bill in the fiscal 2020
budget that are not transferred or released by the Governor must be distributed in fiscal 2021, in
addition to other funds required to be distributed by the bill in fiscal 2021. The bill took effect June
1, 2019.

CONTACTING THE DISTRICT’S FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT

This financial report is designed to provide our citizens, taxpayers, customers, and creditors with a
general overview of the District’s finances and to demonstrate the District’s accountability for the
money it receives. If you have questions about this report or need additional financial
information, contact the Finance Office, Wicomico County Board of Education, 2424 Northgate
Drive, Suite 100, Salisbury, MD 21802-1538
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THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF WICOMICO COUNTY

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

ASSETS
Cash
Investments - cash equivalents
Accounts receivable:
School districts and other
Accrued interest on investments
Due from other governmental agencies
Internal balances
Capital assets:
Construction in progress
Land
Other depreciable capital assets, net
TOTAL ASSETS

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Pensions
Other post-employment benefits (OPEB)

TOTAL DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable:
Retainage
Vendors
Payroll deductions and withholdings
Payable to external parties
Due to other governmental agencies
Accrued salaries
Unearned revenue
Short term portion of long term liabilities:
Accrued compensated absences
Capital lease payable
Long term liabilities:
Accrued compensated absences
Capital lease payable
Net pension liability
Net OPEB liability
TOTAL LIABILITIES

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Pensions
Other post-employment benefits (OPEB)
TOTAL DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted for:
Capital projects
Special revenue
Unrestricted
TOTAL NET POSITION

June 30, 2019

Business-
Governmental Type

Activities Activities Total
$ 294,401 1,330 295,731
33,196,450 - 33,196,450
1,304,953 56,162 1,361,115
77,126 - 77,126
8,436,013 322,602 8,758,615
(2,986,736) 2,986,736 -
35,421,371 - 35,421,371
4,372,740 - 4,372,740
277,297,914 623,738 277,921,652
357,414,232 3,990,568 361,404,800
5,004,791 - 5,004,791
18,059,067 - 18,059,067
23,063,858 - 23,063,858
1,187,402 - 1,187,402
4,713,717 94,228 4,807,945
10,522,970 - 10,522,970
829,298 - 829,298
142,411 - 142,411
902,442 18,915 921,357
3,812,399 46,316 3,858,715
310,266 - 310,266
1,238,425 - 1,238,425
2,411,933 - 2,411,933
1,250,578 - 1,250,578
10,918,479 - 10,918,479
115,720,946 - 115,720,946
153,961,266 159,459 154,120,725
574,946 - 574,946
3,446,310 - 3,446,310
4,021,256 - 4,021,256
314,603,022 623,738 315,226,760
2,153,490 - 2,153,490
346,577 - 346,577
(94,607,521) 3,207,371 (91,400,150)
$ 222,495,568 S 3,831,109 226,326,677

The Notes to the Basic Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.



THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF WICOMICO COUNTY

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
Year Ended June 30, 2019

Program Revenues

Operating Capital
Charges for Grants and Grants and
Expenses Services Contributions Contributions
Governmental Activities
Current:
Administration S 7,470,741 S 131,695 S 1,100,402 S -
Instructional services 158,619,765 316,293 20,369,516 19,930,075
Special education 29,450,575 - 13,732,073 -
Student personnel services 4,370,816 - 773,431 -
Health services 2,542,324 - 159,590 -
Student transportation 10,545,513 - 5,550,688 -
Operation of plant and equipment 17,416,841 152,657 685,360 -
Maintenance of plant 5,397,468 - 161,321 -
Food services 11,534 11,523
Community services 240,154 44,574 19,468 -
Interest expense 38,904 - - -
Total Governmental Activities 236,104,635 645,219 42,563,372 19,930,075
Business-Type Activities
Food Service 7,732,529 1,193,756 6,847,480 -
Total Business-Type Activities 7,732,529 1,193,756 6,847,480 -
Totals S 243,837,164 S 1,838,975 S 49,410,852 $§ 19,930,075

General Revenues
Wicomico County appropriations
State of Maryland
Other revenue

Total General Revenues
Transfers

Change in Net Position

Net Position - beginning of year
Net Position - end of year

The Notes to the Basic Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Net (Expenses) Revenue
and changes in Net Position

Governmental Business-Type

Activities Activities Total
S (6,238,644) S - S (6,238,644)
(118,003,881) - (118,003,881)
(15,718,502) - (15,718,502)
(3,597,385) - (3,597,385)
(2,382,734) - (2,382,734)
(4,994,825) - (4,994,825)
(16,578,824) - (16,578,824)
(5,236,147) - (5,236,147)
(11) - (11)
(176,112) - (176,112)
(38,904) - (38,904)
(172,965,969) - (172,965,969)
- 308,707 308,707
- 308,707 308,707
(172,965,969) 308,707 (172,657,262)
44,164,012 - 44,164,012
133,283,580 - 133,283,580
686,650 - 686,650
178,134,242 - 178,134,242
(450,000) 450,000 -
4,718,273 758,707 5,476,980
217,777,295 3,072,402 220,849,697

S 222,495,568 S 3,831,109 S 226,326,677
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Total
GENERAL SPECIAL CAPITAL Governmental
FUND REVENUE PROJECTS Funds
ASSETS
Cash S 294,401 $ - S - S 294,401
Investments - cash equivalents 33,196,450 - - 33,196,450
Accounts receivable:
School districts and other 919,260 385,693 - 1,304,953
Accrued interest on investments 77,126 - - 77,126
Due from other governmental agencies 501,557 2,465,693 5,468,763 8,436,013
Due from other funds - 1,709,408 929,134 2,638,542
TOTAL ASSETS $ 34,988,794 $ 4,560,794 S 6,397,897 $ 45,947,485
LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES
Accounts payable:
Retainage S - S - S 1,187,402 S 1,187,402
Vendors 1,111,433 545,279 3,057,005 4,713,717
Payroll deductions and withholdings 10,522,970 - - 10,522,970
Due to other funds 6,454,576 - - 6,454,576
Accrued salaries and other 809,471 92,971 - 902,442
Accrued compensated absences 310,266 - - 310,266
Unearned revenue 378,752 3,433,647 - 3,812,399
Due to other governmental agencies 91 142,320 - 142,411
TOTAL LIABILITIES 19,587,559 4,214,217 4,244,407 28,046,183
FUND BALANCES
Restricted for fund purposes - 346,577 2,153,490 2,500,067
Committed:
Healthcare rate stabilization reserve 3,122,332 - - 3,122,332
Assigned to:
Healthcare rate stabilization reserve - - - -
Subsequent year expenditures 2,206,489 - - 2,206,489
Other purposes (encumbrances) 6,723,571 - - 6,723,571
Unassigned 3,348,843 - - 3,348,843
Total fund balances 15,401,235 346,577 2,153,490 17,901,302
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES $ 34,988,794 $ 4,560,794 S 6,397,897 $ 45,947,485

The Notes to the Basic Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF WICOMICO COUNTY

RECONCILIATION OF THE BALANCE SHEET TO THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

June 30, 2019

Total Governmental Funds Balances

Amounts reported for governmental activities
in the statement of net position are different because:

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not
financial resources and therefore are not reported in the
governmental fund financial statements

Deferred outflows of resources not reported in the
governmental fund financial statements:

Pensions

OPEB

Long-term liabilities are not due and payable in the current
period and therefore are not reported in the governmental
fund financial statements:

Accrued compensated absences

Net pension liability

Net OPEB liability

Capital lease payable

Deferred inflows of resources not reported in the
governmental fund financial statements:
Pensions
OPEB

Net Position of Governmental Activities

$ 17,901,302

317,092,025

5,004,791

18,059,067

23,063,858

(2,411,933)
(10,918,479)
(115,720,946)

(2,489,003)

(131,540,361)

(574,946)

(3,446,310)

(4,021,256)

$ 222,495,568

The Notes to the Basic Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF WICOMICO COUNTY

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND
CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
Year Ended June 30, 2019

Total
GENERAL SPECIAL CAPITAL Governmental
FUND REVENUE PROJECTS Funds
REVENUES
Wicomico County appropriations
Operations S 44,164,012 $ - S - 44,164,012
Other local revenue 1,163,072 891,016 - 2,054,088
State of Maryland 145,916,073 1,766,464 11,631,185 159,313,722
State of Maryland retirement and pension contribution 11,841,729 - - 11,841,729
Federal through state - 15,343,287 - 15,343,287
Other sources 168,795 88,385 8,298,890 8,556,070
TOTAL REVENUES 203,253,681 18,089,152 19,930,075 241,272,908
EXPENDITURES
Current:
Administration 4,998,760 459,514 - 5,458,274
School management and support 13,106,356 195,659 - 13,302,015
Instructional salaries and wages 72,211,231 5,194,555 - 77,405,786
Textbooks and instructional supplies 2,727,297 2,567,580 - 5,294,877
Other instructional costs 1,500,237 1,632,052 - 3,132,289
Special education 16,637,796 3,157,160 - 19,794,956
Student personnel services 2,742,433 390,596 - 3,133,029
Health services 1,746,603 11,159 - 1,757,762
Student transportation 8,854,277 340,130 - 9,194,407
Operation of plant and equipment 13,255,074 123,592 - 13,378,666
Maintenance of plant 4,481,677 20,924 - 4,502,601
Fixed charges 40,771,409 2,558,546 - 43,329,955
Community services 197,999 12,330 - 210,329
Food services - 11,028 - 11,028
Capital outlay 7,496,768 149,954 20,645,623 28,292,345
Debt service
Capital lease principal 1,753,097 - - 1,753,097
Capital lease interest 38,904 - - 38,904
State of Maryland share of retirement
and pension contribution 11,841,729 - - 11,841,729
TOTAL EXPENDITURES 204,361,647 16,824,779 20,645,623 241,832,049
EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF
REVENUES OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES (1,107,966) 1,264,373 (715,548) (559,141)
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Deficit from insurance settlement (1,509,020) - - (1,509,020)
Capital lease issuance 1,653,624 - - 1,653,624
Interfund transfers - special revenue 1,250,265 (1,250,265) - -
Interfund transfers - food services (450,000) - - (450,000)
TOTAL OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES) 944,869 (1,250,265) - (305,396)
Net change in fund balances (163,097) 14,108 (715,548) (864,537)
Fund balances - beginning of year 15,564,332 332,469 2,869,038 18,765,839
Fund balances - end of year S 15,401,235 S 346,577 S 2,153,490 $ 17,901,302

The Notes to the Basic Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF WICOMICO COUNTY

RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
Year Ended June 30, 2019

Net change in fund balances-total Governmental Funds S (864,537)

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the
statement of activities are different because:

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures.
However, in the statement of activities, the cost of those

assets is allocated over their estimated useful lives as depreciation
expense. This is the amount by which capital outlays

exceeded depreciation in the current period.

Capital asset additions 23,904,008
Current year depreciation (12,068,099)
11,835,909
Current year loss on disposal of capital assets (17,768)
Some expenses reported in the statement of activities, do not
require the use of current financial resources and therefore
are not reported as expenditures in governmental funds.
Decrease in long-term accrued compensated absences 51,210
Increase in net OPEB liability (21,198,774)
Increase in net pension liability (3,058,910)
Increase in deferred outflows 19,111,371
Increase in deferred inflows (1,239,701)
Capital lease proceeds provide current financial resources to
governmental funds but increase long-term liabilities in the statement
of net position. Repayment of capital lease obligations is an expenditure
in the governmental funds, but the repayment reduces long-
term liabilities in the statement of net position. In the current year, the
net effect of capital lease borrowings and repayments was: 99,473
Change in net position of Governmental Activities S 4,718,273

The Notes to the Basic Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF WICOMICO COUNTY

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
PROPRIETARY FUND
June 30, 2019

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Due from other funds
Due from other governments
Accounts receivable - other

Total current assets
Capital assets, net
TOTAL ASSETS
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Unearned revenue
Total current liabilities
TOTAL LIABILITIES
NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets

Unrestricted

TOTAL NET POSITION

The Notes to the Basic Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Business-Type

Activities

Food
Service

1,330
2,986,736
322,602
56,162

3,366,830

623,738

3,990,568

113,143
46,316

159,459

159,459

623,738
3,207,371

s

3,831,109




THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF WICOMICO COUNTY

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND
CHANGES IN NET POSITION
PROPRIETARY FUND
Year Ended June 30, 2019

OPERATING REVENUES
Food service sales

OPERATING EXPENSES
Salaries and wages
Contracted services
Supplies and materials
Other charges
Depreciation
TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES

OPERATING LOSS
NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
State of Maryland:
Reimbursement of food costs
Federal through State:
Reimbursement of food costs
Donation of food commodities
TOTAL NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
Change in net position before contributions and transfers
Transfers
Change in net position

Net position - beginning of year

Net position - end of year

The Notes to the Basic Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Business-Type
Activities

S

Food
Service

1,193,756

2,481,420
65,878
3,992,615
1,119,038
73,578

7,732,529

(6,538,773)

203,284

6,178,755
465,441

6,847,480

308,707

450,000

758,707

3,072,402

3,831,109




THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF WICOMICO COUNTY

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
PROPRIETARY FUND
Year Ended June 30, 2019

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Cash received from user charges S 477,899
Cash payments to employees for services, fringe benefits (2,844,917)
Cash payments for health and other insurances (767,502)
Cash payments to suppliers for goods and services (3,536,706)
Cash payments for facility use and maintenance (65,878)
Net cash used in operating activities (6,737,104)
CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Nonoperating grants received 6,382,039
Interfund transfers 450,000
Net cash provided by noncapital financing activities 6,832,039
CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Purchase of equipment (94,935)
Principal payment on capital lease obligation -
Net cash used in capital and related financing activities (94,935)
Net change in cash -
Cash and investments - beginning of year 1,330
Cash and investments - end of year S 1,330
Reconciliation of Operating Loss to Net Cash Used In Operating Activities:
Operating Loss S (6,538,773)
Adjustments to reconcile operating loss
to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation 73,578
Commodities used 465,441
(Increase) decrease in assets:
Inventories -
Receivables (715,857)
(Decrease) increase in liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (26,818)
Unearned revenue and due to other governments 5,325
Total adjustments (198,331)
Net cash used in operating activities S (6,737,104)
Noncash items:
Donation of food commodities S 465,441

The Notes to the Basic Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF WICOMICO COUNTY

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION - FIDUCIARY FUNDS
June 30, 2019

Pension AGENCY FUND
and Retiree Private School
Health Plan Purpose Activities
Trust Funds Trust Fund Fund
ASSETS
Cash S 687,444 S - S 33,265
Due from other governmental units - 198,882 630,416
Accounts receivable - - 3,197
Trust investments
Government bonds 434,253 - -
Commercial paper 294,350 - -
Mortgage loans 750,118 - -
Corporate bonds 1,592,104 - -
Common stock 2,576,516 6,372 -
Mutual funds 41,413,188 - -
Other 3,543,841 - -
Total assets 51,291,814 205,254 666,878
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 183 717 23,913
Due to school
activity groups - - 642,965
Total liabilities 183 717 666,878
NET POSITION
Restricted for pensions and other
post-employment benefits 51,291,631 - -
Restricted for scholarships - 204,537 -
Total net position S 51,291,631 §$ 204,537 S -

The Notes to the Basic Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF WICOMICO COUNTY

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION

FIDUCIARY FUNDS
Year Ended June 30, 2019

Pension Private Purpose
and Retiree Trust Fund -
Health Plan Scholarship
Trust Funds Memorials
ADDITIONS
Contributions:
Donations S - S 33,762
Employer contributions 5,512,101 -
Plan member contributions 425,044 -
Total contributions 5,937,145 33,762
Investment earnings:
Interest and dividends 2,137,275 5,382
Less: investment-related expense (108,319) -
Change in fair value of investments (88,535) -
Total investment earnings 1,940,421 5,382
Total additions 7,877,566 39,144
DEDUCTIONS
Scholarships, etc. - 46,261
Pension benefit payments 5,843,492 -
Administrative expenses 54,686 -
Total deductions 5,898,178 46,261
Change in net position 1,979,388 (7,117)
Net position - beginning of year 49,312,243 211,654
Net position - end of year S 51,291,631 S 204,537

The Notes to the Basic Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
A. Financial Reporting Entity

The Board of Education of Wicomico County (the “Board”) is empowered by Title 13A of the Code of Maryland
Regulations to fulfill the elementary and secondary educational needs of students in Wicomico County, Maryland
(the “County”).

The financial statements of the Board have been prepared in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles (GAAP) as applied to local government units. The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is
the accepted standard-setting body for establishing governmental accounting and financial principles.

The most significant of the Board’s accounting policies are described below.
B. Basis of Presentation

The Board is the basic level of government which has financial accountability and control over all activities related
to public school education in Wicomico County, Maryland. The Board receives funding from local, State and
Federal government sources and must comply with the requirements of these funding source entities.

The Board is a component unit of Wicomico County, Maryland and is included in the County’s reporting entity.
This conclusion has been reached based on the following criteria: 1) the County is responsible for approving the
Board’s budget and establishing spending limitations and 2) the Board cannot issue bonded debt, but the County
can and does issue bonds to finance school system operations. In addition, there are no component units which
are included in the Board's reporting entity.

The Board’s basic financial statements consist of government-wide statements, including a statement of net
position and a statement of activities, and fund financial statements which provide a more detailed level of
financial information.

GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The statement of net position and the statement of activities display information about the Board as a whole.
These statements include the financial activities of the Board. The statements distinguish between those activities
of the Board that are governmental and those that are considered business-type activities. Activities between
funds that are representative of lending or borrowing arrangements outstanding at the end of the fiscal year are
referred to as due to/from other funds and are netted for presentation purposes (see Note 3).

The statement of net position presents the financial condition of the governmental and business-type activities of
the Board at year-end, excluding fiduciary funds. The statement of activities presents a comparison between
direct expenses and program revenues for each program or function of the Board’s governmental activities and for
business-type activities of the Board. Direct expenses are those that are specifically associated with a service,
program or department and therefore clearly identifiable to a particular function. Program revenues include
charges paid by the recipient of the goods or services offered by the program, and grants and contributions that
are restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular program. Revenues which are not
classified as program revenues are presented as general revenues of the Board, with certain limited exceptions.
The comparison of direct expenses with program revenues identifies the extent to which each program or
governmental function is self-financing or draws from general revenues of the Board.
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NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
B. Basis of Presentation (continued)
FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

During the year, the Board segregates transactions related to certain Board functions or activities in separate funds
in order to aid financial management and to demonstrate legal compliance. Fund financial statements are
designed to present financial information of the Board at a more detailed level. The focus of governmental and
enterprise fund financial statements is on major funds. Each major fund is presented in a separate column.

C. Fund Accounting

The Board uses funds to maintain its financial records during the year. A fund is defined as a fiscal and accounting
entity with a self-balancing set of accounts. There are three categories of funds: governmental, proprietary and
fiduciary.

GOVERNMENTAL FUND TYPES

Governmental funds are those through which most governmental functions typically are financed. Governmental
fund reporting focuses on the sources, uses and balances of current financial resources. Expendable assets are
assigned to the various governmental funds according to the purpose for which they may or must be used.
Current liabilities are assigned to the fund from which they will be paid. The difference between governmental
fund assets and liabilities is reported as fund balance. The following are the Board’s major governmental funds:

General Fund - The General Fund is the general operating fund of the Board. All general revenues and other
receipts that are not allocated by law or contractual agreement to another fund and general operating
expenditures are accounted for in this fund.

Special Revenue Fund — The Special Revenue fund is used to account for revenue resources that are restricted or
committed to specified purposes other than debt service and capital projects, such as federal, state, and local
grants. The print shop, instructional resource center, planetarium, solar facilities, and transportation revenue
resources are also included in the special revenue fund.

Capital Projects Fund — The Capital Projects (School Construction) Fund is used to account for financial resources to
be used for the acquisition or construction of major capital facilities. The Board administers the construction and
repair of public schools and uses the School Construction Fund to record the revenues from the County and other
governmental units and the expenditures in connection therewith.

PROPRIETARY FUNDS

Proprietary funds focus on the determination of changes in net position, financial position and cash flows and are
classified as enterprise.

Enterprise funds — Enterprise funds may be used to account for any activity for which a fee is charged to external
users for goods or services. The Board’s major enterprise funds are:

Food service fund — This fund accounts for the financial transactions related to the food service
operations of the Board.

FIDUCIARY FUNDS

Agency Fund — The funds of the School Activities Fund are administered by the individual schools in a fiduciary
capacity.

Private Purpose Trust Fund — These funds are held by the Board for scholarships and other student awards.
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NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
C. Fund Accounting (continued)

Pension Trust Fund — The Board is the fiduciary for the assets held in a retirement plan for certain employees of
the Board of Education and the assets held in the 401(a) Retirement Plan.

Retiree Health Plan (OPEB) Trust Fund — The Board is the fiduciary for the assets held in an other-post-employment
benefit plan for health insurance for certain employees of the Board of Education.

D. Measurement Focus

Government-wide financial statements — The government-wide financial statements are prepared using the
economic resources measurement focus. All assets and liabilities associated with the operation of the Board are
included on the statement of net position.

Fund financial statements — All governmental funds are accounted for using a flow of current financial resources
measurement focus. With this measurement focus, only current assets and current liabilities generally are
included on the balance sheet. The statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances reports on
the sources (i.e., revenues and other financing sources) and uses (i.e., expenditures and other financing uses) of
current financial resources. This approach differs from the manner in which the governmental activities of the
government-wide financial statements are prepared. Governmental fund financial statements therefore include a
reconciliation with brief explanations to better identify the relationship between the government-wide statements
and the statements for government funds.

Like the government-wide statements, all proprietary funds and fiduciary funds, except agency funds which have
no measurement focus, are accounted for on a flow of economic resources measurement focus. All assets and
liabilities associated with the operation of these funds are included on the statement of net position. The
statement of changes in fund net position presents increases (i.e., revenues) and decreases (i.e., expenses) in net
total position. The statement of cash flows provides information about how the Board finances and meets the
cash flow needs of its proprietary activities.

E. Basis of Accounting

Basis of accounting determines when transactions are recorded in the financial records and reported on the
financial statements. Government-wide financial statements are prepared using the accrual basis of accounting.
Governmental funds use the modified accrual basis of accounting. Proprietary and fiduciary funds also use the
accrual basis of accounting. Differences in the accrual and the modified accrual basis of accounting arise in the
recognition of revenue, the recording of unearned revenue, and in the presentation of expenses versus
expenditures.

Revenues-Exchange and Non-exchange Transactions — Revenue resulting from exchange transactions, in which
each party gives and receives essentially equal value, is recorded on the accrual basis when the exchange takes
place. On a modified accrual basis, revenue is recorded in the fiscal year in which the resources are measurable
and become available. Available means that the resources will be collected within the current fiscal year or are
expected to be collected soon enough thereafter to be used to pay liabilities of the current fiscal year. For this
purpose, the Board considers revenues to be available if they are collected within sixty days of the end of the
current fiscal year.

Nonexchange transactions, in which the Board receives value without directly giving equal value in return, include
primarily grants. Revenue from grants is recognized in the fiscal year in which all eligibility requirements have
been satisfied. Eligibility requirements include timing requirements, which specify the year when the resources
are required to be used or the year when use is first permitted, matching requirements, in which the Board must
provide local resources to be used for a specified purpose, and expenditure requirements, in which the resources
are provided to the Board on a reimbursable basis. On a modified accrual basis, revenue from nonexchange
transactions must also be available before it can be recognized.
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NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
E. Basis of Accounting (continued)

Under the modified accrual basis, the following revenue sources are considered to be both measurable and
available at year end: interest, tuition, grants, fees and rentals.

Unearned revenue — Unearned revenue arises when assets are recognized before revenue recognition criteria
have been satisfied.

Grants received before the eligibility requirements are met are also recorded as unearned revenue.

On governmental fund financial statements, receivables that will not be collected within the available period have
also been reported as unearned revenue.

Expenses/Expenditures — On the accrual basis of accounting, expenses are recognized at the time they are
incurred. The fair value of donated commodities used during the year is reported in the operating statement as an
expense with a like amount reported as donated commodities revenue. Unused donated commodities are
reported as due to other governmental agencies.

The measurement focus of governmental fund accounting is on decreases in net financial resources (expenditures)
rather than expenses. Expenditures are generally recognized in the accounting period in which the related fund
liability is incurred, if measurable. Allocations of cost, such as depreciation and amortization, are not recognized in
governmental funds.

F. Budgetary Data

The budget is prepared on the budgetary basis of accounting. The budget establishes a limit on the amounts that
the Board may appropriate and sets annual limits as to the amount of expenditures at a level of control selected by
the Board. The legal level of control has been established by the Board at the category level within each fund.

The budget may be amended during the year if projected increases or decreases in revenue are identified. The
amounts reported as the original budgeted amounts in the budgetary statements reflect the amounts when the
original budget was adopted. The amounts reported in the final budgeted amounts reflect amendments approved
by the County government during the year between categories and those approved by the Board within
categories.

G. Inventory and Prepaid Items

The governmental activities of the government-wide financial statements and the fund financial statements of
governmental funds record inventories of supplies at cost. The business-type activities of the government-wide
financial statements and the fund financial statements of proprietary funds record food inventories at the lower of
cost or market on a first-in, first-out basis and are expensed when used or sold. Food received from the USDA is
included at values stated by the USDA but is offset by an unearned credit until consumed.

Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods and are recorded as prepaid
items in both government-wide and fund financial statements under the consumption method.

H. Capital Assets

General capital assets are those assets not specifically related to activities reported in proprietary funds. These
assets generally result from expenditures in the governmental funds. These assets are reported in the
governmental activities column of the government-wide statement of net position but are not reported in the fund
financial statements. Capital assets utilized by the proprietary funds are reported both in the business-type
activities column of the government-wide statement of net position and in the proprietary fund statement of net
position.
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NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
H. Capital Assets (continued)

All capital assets are capitalized at cost (or estimated historical costs) and updated for additions and retirements
during the year. Donated capital assets are recorded at their acquisition value as of the date received. The Board
maintains a capitalization threshold of five thousand dollars. The Board does not possess any infrastructure.
Improvements are capitalized; the costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add value to the asset or
materially extend an asset’s life are not.

All reported capital assets except land, land improvements and construction in progress are depreciated.
Improvements are depreciated over the remaining useful lives of the related capital assets. Depreciation is
computed using the straight-line method over the following useful lives:

Description Estimated Lives
Buildings and Improvements 20— 50 years
Furniture and Equipment 5-15years
Vehicles 8 years

I. Compensated Absences

Compensated absences are reported as accrued in the government wide financial statements. Governmental
funds report only matured compensated absences payable to currently terminating employees. Annual leave for
eligible employees is accrued on a monthly basis and range from 10 to 25 days depending on the employee’s years
of service. Additionally, as an incentive for employees not to abuse sick leave, upon retirement, employees of the
Board receive payment for unused sick leave at varying rates for the number of unused days exceeding 150 or 200
days based on the employees position and tenure.

J. Accrued Liabilities and Long-Term Obligations

All payables, accrued liabilities and long-term obligations are reported in the government—wide statements, and all
payables, accrued liabilities and long-term obligations payable from proprietary funds are reported on the
proprietary fund financial statements.

In general, governmental fund payables and accrued liabilities that, once incurred, are paid in a timely manner and
in full from current financial resources, are reported as obligations of the funds. However, claims and judgments
and compensated absences that will be paid from governmental funds are reported as a liability in the fund
financial statements only to the extent that they are due for payment during the current year.

K. Net Position

In the government-wide financial statements, net position represents the difference between assets plus deferred
outflows of resources and liabilities plus deferred inflows of resources. Net investment in capital assets consists of
capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, reduced by the outstanding balances of any borrowings used for
the acquisition, construction or improvement of those assets. Net position is reported as restricted when there
are limitations imposed on their use either through the enabling legislation adopted by the Board or through
external restrictions imposed by grantors, creditors or laws or regulations of other governments.

The Board applies restricted resources first when an expense is incurred for purposes for which both restricted and
unrestricted net positions are available.
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NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
L. Fund Balance

Fund balances are reported separately within classifications based on a hierarchy of the constraints placed on the
use of those resources. The classifications are based on the relative strength of the constraints that control how
the specific amounts can be spent. The classifications are nonspendable (i.e. inventory or long term receivables),
restricted (by external parties or legislation), committed (by resolution of the Board of Education), assigned (by
management approval for specific purposes) and unassigned. Nonspendable fund balance cannot be spent
because of its form. Restricted fund balance has limitations imposed by creditors, grantors, or contributors or by
enabling legislation or constitutional provisions. Committed fund balance is a limitation imposed by the Board (the
highest level of authority). Such limitations could only be imposed with formal action of the Board of Education in
the form of a vote at a regular or special Board meeting that either establishes, modifies or rescinds the limitation
imposed. Assigned fund balance is a limitation imposed by a designee of the Board in accordance with Board of
Education policy. Constraints imposed on the use of assighed amounts do not rise to the level required to be
classified as restricted or committed. Unassigned fund balance in the General Fund is the net resources in excess of
what can be properly classified in one of the above four categories. A deficit unassigned fund balance may be
reported in other governmental funds, if expenditures incurred for specific purposes exceeded the amounts
restricted, committed, or assigned to those purposes. Proprietary fund equity is classified the same as in the
government-wide statements. The Board’s procedure for fund balance spending is for committed fund balances to
be reduced first, followed by assigned amounts, and then unassigned amounts when expenditures are incurred for
purposes for which amounts in any of those unrestricted fund balance classifications could be used.

The Board’s policy for assigned and unassigned fund balance is driven by legislation at the state and local
government level. Fund balance assigned to subsequent year’s expenditures is governed by current state law
that dictates that the unassigned fund balance from the previous year must be added to other estimated receipts
to create the source of current expense revenues for the following budget year. For example, fiscal year 2019
unassigned fund balance becomes assigned fund balance for fiscal year 2021.

M. Operating Revenues and Expenses

Operating revenues are those revenues that are generated directly from the primary activity of the proprietary
funds. For the Board, these revenues are sales for food service. Operating expenses are necessary costs incurred
to provide the good or service that is the primary activity of the fund. All revenues and expenses not meeting this
criteria are reported as nonoperating.

N. Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and
accompanying notes. Actual results may differ from those estimates.

0. Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Board’s cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, demand deposits, and short-term investments with
original maturities of three months or less from the date of acquisition. Cash in the General Fund and Food Service
Fund is pooled into one account in order to maximize investment opportunities. Investments are stated at fair
value.

P. Interfund Receivables and Payables and Transfers

Activities between funds that are representative of lending or borrowing arrangements outstanding at the end of

the fiscal year are referred to as “due to/from other funds.” Transfers represent resources moved between funds
(refer to Note 3).
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Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Q. Encumbrance Accounting

Encumbrances for goods or purchased services are documented by purchase orders or contracts. Encumbrances
are reported as assigned fund balance in the governmental fund financial statements. As of June 30, 2019,
significant encumbrances were assigned for purchases of textbooks and instructional supplies, classroom
technology, and school improvement (capital outlay and maintenance). These encumbrances were provided for in
the current year’s budget for the budgetary basis of accounting but will be accounted for under generally accepted
accounting principles in the subsequent year. As of June 30, 2019, encumbrances outstanding totaled $6,723,571,
compared to $5,864,774 in the prior year, and included the following functions:

Function Amount
Administration S 148,571
School management and support 57,762
Textbooks and instructional supplies 341,447
Other instructional costs 108,026
Special education 58,564
Student personnel services 9,288
Health services 3,926
Student transportation 445,368
Operation of plant and equipment 586,525
Maintenance of plant 853,669
Fixed charges 44,134
Community services 52,737
Capital outlay 4,013,554

Total encumbrances S 6,723,571

Note 2. Cash and Investments
Deposits and Investments Other Than Pension Funds:

The Board is authorized to invest monies for which it has custody or control. The type of investments are in
accordance with Section 6-222 of the Maryland State Finance and Procurement Article.

The Board’s investment policy for its non-pension funds authorizes its comptroller to invest money in any of the
following types of investments:

U.S. Treasury Obligations

Local Government Investment Pool
Repurchase Agreements
Collateralized Certificates of Deposit

a0 oo

The policy requires that the investments be on a short-term (less than one year) basis to reduce interest rate risk
and establishes maximum portfolio percentages for investments as follows to reduce concentration risk:

Maximum Percent

Diversification by Instrument of Portfolio

U.S. Treasury Obligations 100%

Local Government Investment Pool 100%

Repurchase Agreements 30%
(Master Repurchase Agreements Required)

Collateralized Certficates of Deposit 10%

(Only Maryland Commercial Banks)
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Note 2. Cash and Investments (Continued)

The policy requires collateralization for certificates of deposit and repurchase agreements. Such collateral must be
at least 102% of fair value of principal and accrued interest. The Annotated Code of Maryland (Article 95, Section
22) requires that deposits with financial institutions by local boards of education be fully collateralized. The
Board’s policy requires collateral to be held by a custodian in accordance with Section 6-209(c) of the State Finance
and Procurement Article of the Annotated Code of Maryland and acceptable collateral as specified under Section
6-202 of the same document.

These collateralization requirements are established to reduce custodial risk which is the risk that in the event of a
bank failure, the Board’s deposits may not be returned to it.

At June 30, 2019, the Board’s non-pension funds were invested as follows:

Carrying Bank
Value Balance
Cash S 295,731 $ 5,629,931
Investments - cash equivalents 33,196,450 33,196,450

At June 30, 2019, the Board had bank deposits totaling $5,629,931 with a carrying value of $295,731. The Board is
party to a security and custodial agreement with its bank wherein deposits exceeding the amounts insured by the
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) are collateralized by pledged securities held in the Board’s name at
The Bank of New York Mellon. As of June 30, 2019, the bank deposits were fully insured or collateralized. The
bank balances were exposed to custodial credit risk as follows:

Insured S 250,000
Uninsured and collateral held by pledging
bank's trust department in the Board's name 5,379,931

Uninsured and collateral held by pledging bank's
trust department not in the Board's name -
S 5,629,931

The Board invests in the Maryland Local Government Investment Pool (MLGIP) which was created with the passage
of Article 94 22G of the Annotated Code of Maryland. The MLGIP is managed by PNC Safe Deposit and Trust
Company which is under administrative control of the State Treasurer. A MLGIP Advisory Committee of current
participants has been formed to review the activities of the Fund on a quarterly basis and provide suggestions to
enhance the pool. The MLGIP is rated AAAm by Standard and Poor’s.

At June 30, 2019, the Board’s School Activities Fund, an agency fund, had bank deposits totaling $242,087 with a
carrying value of $33,265. As of June 30, 2019, these bank deposits were fully insured.

The fair value of the pool is the same as the value of the pool shares. Investments are recorded at cost, which

approximates fair value. Investments in MLGIP totaled $33,196,450 at June 30, 2019 with $3,122,332
committed/assigned for health insurance rate stabilization.
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Note 2. Cash and Investments (Continued)
Pension and Other Trust Fund Investments:

The Investment policy of the Board’s Retirement Plan Trust requires that the pension funds be managed as a
balanced account with approximately a 60% equity, 40% government and corporate bond mix. Cash or cash
equivalents are to be less than 3% on a long-term basis. The policy also has certain restrictions on types and
amounts of investments that may be included in the portfolio, e.g. foreign securities, real estate, industry groups,
loans, controlling interests. Cash deposits of pension and other trust funds in excess of amounts insured by the
FDIC are subject to custodial credit risk.

The Board’s pension investments are held by Bank of New York Mellon (BNY Mellon), Aetna Insurance Company
and Janus in the Board’s name. The Board’s Retiree Health Plan Trust investments are held at BNY Mellon in the
Board’s name. The Trustees review, on an annual basis, the financial status, objectives and guidelines, and
current, short term and long term capital market expectations to manage interest rate risk and credit risk.

Pension and other trust funds are invested as follows:

Retiree Health

Pension Trust 401(a) Plan Trust
BNY Mellon AETNA Janus BNY Mellon Total

Cash and equivalents S 81,077 S 11,771 S 168,308 S 426,288 S 687,444
Government bonds - 61,445 372,808 - 434,253
Commercial paper (less than 1 year) - 294,350 - - 294,350
Mortgage loans - 233,420 516,698 - 750,118
Corporate bonds - 870,471 721,633 - 1,592,104
Common stock - - 2,576,516 - 2,576,516
Mutual funds 20,832,243 - - 20,580,945 41,413,188
Other 1,794,481 - 4,360 1,745,000 3,543,841

Total S 22,707,801 S 1,471,457 S 4,360,323 S 22,752,233 $§ 51,291,814

Corporate bonds held at June 30, 2019 are rated by Standard & Poor’s as follows:

Percent of Corporate Bond Portfolio

Retiree Health

Pension Trust 401(a) Plan Trust
Rating BNY Mellon AETNA Janus BNY Mellon
AAA 20.00% 51.93%
AA+
AA 0.26%
AA-
A+
A 9.15%
A-
BBB+ 42.00%
BBB 20.00% 27.26%
BBB- 18.00%
BB 10.03%
B 1.37%
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Note 2. Cash and Investments (Continued)

AETNA:
Corporate bond issues held at June 30, 2019 are as follows:
Percent of
Holdings
AT&T Inc. 20.00%
African Development Bank 20.00%
Credit Suisse 24.00%
Campbell Soup Co. 18.00%
Morgan Stanley 18.00%
401(a):
Janus:
Corporate bond issues held at June 30, 2019 are as follows:
Percent of
Holdings
Janus Balanced Fund T (JABAX) 100.00%

Average duration 6.34 years

INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE:

Government Accounting Standards Board Statement (GASB) No. 72, Fair Value Measurements and Application,
clarifies the definition of fair value for financial reporting, establishes a framework for measuring fair value, and
requires additional disclosures about the use of fair value measurements. GASB 72 established a three-level
valuation hierarchy for disclosure of fair value measurements. The valuation hierarchy is based upon the
transparency of inputs to the valuation of an asset or liability as of the measurement date. The three levels are

defined as follows:

Level 1 — observable market inputs that are unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets or
liabilities in active markets that a government can access at the measurement date.

Level 2 — inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 — that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly (for example, quoted prices in active markets for

similar assets or liabilities)
Level 3 —inputs to the valuation methodology are unobservable and significant to the fair value

measurement.

Debt and equity securities classified in Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy are valued using prices quoted in active
markets for those securities. Debt securities classified in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy are valued using a
combination of prevailing market prices and interest payments that are discounted at prevailing interest rates for
similar instruments. Commercial and residential mortgage-backed securities classified in Level 3 are valued using

discounted cash flow techniques.
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As of June 30, 2019, the Board had the following recurring fair value measurements:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Debt Securities:
Government bonds S 434,253 S - S - S 434,253
Mortgage loans - - 750,118 750,118
Corporate bonds - 1,592,104 - 1,592,104
434,253 1,592,104 750,118 2,776,475
Equity Securities:
Common stock 2,576,516 - - 2,576,516
Other investments:
Commercial paper 294,350 - - 294,350
Mutual funds 41,413,188 - - 41,413,188
Other 3,539,481 - 4,360 3,543,841
45,247,019 - 4,360 45,251,379
Total investment by
fair value level S 48,257,788 S 1,592,104 S 754,478 S 50,604,370

Note 3. Interfund Receivables and Payables

At June 30, 2019, the interfund account balances are as follows:

Due From Due To
Other Funds Other Funds

GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES:
General Fund
Due to Food Service Fund S - § 2,986,736
Due to Special Revenue Fund - 1,709,408
Due from Capital Projects Fund - 929,134
Due to School Activities Fund 630,416
Due to Trust Fund 198,882

Special Revenue Fund
Due from General Fund 1,709,408 -

Capital Projects Fund
Due to General Fund 929,134 -

BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES
Enterprise Fund
Due from General Fund 2,986,736 -

FIDUCIARY NET POSITION
Due from General Fund 829,298 -

TOTAL ALL FUNDS $ 6454576 S 6,454,576

Due to/from other funds represent advances of cash for operating needs. Transfers of $450,000 from the General
Fund to the Food Services Fund are to supplement wages and benefits. Transfers of $1,250,265 from the Special
Revenue Fund to the General Fund are for internal services provided, including pension and indirect costs charged
to restricted grants and print shop fees.
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Note 4. Due to/from Other Governmental Agencies

Due to/from other governmental agencies is as follows:

BUSINESS-
TYPE
GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES ACTIVITIES
General Special Capital Food
Fund Revenue Projects Total Services
Due from Federal S - § 2,042,742 S - S 2,042,742 S 312,763
Due from State 501,557 316,345 1,691,908 2,509,810 9,839
Due from local and other - 106,606 3,776,855 3,883,461 -
Total due from other
governmental agencies $ 501,557 § 2,465,693 S 5,468,763 S 8,436,013 S 322,602
Due to Federal S - S 106,920 S - S 106,920 S -
Due to State 91 35,170 - 35,261 -
Dueto local and other - 230 - 230 -
Total due to other
governmental agencies S 91 § 142,320 S - S 142,411 S -
Note 5. Capital Assets
Capital asset activity for the year ended June 30, 2019 was as follows:
Balance Balance
June 30, 2018 Additions Deductions Transfers June 30, 2019
Governmental Activities
Capital Assets, not being depreciated
Land S 4,271,740 S 101,000 S - S - S 4,372,740
Construction in progress 44,118,814 19,595,469 - (28,292,912) 35,421,371
Total capital assets, not being depreciated 48,390,554 19,696,469 - (28,292,912) 39,794,111
Capital assets, being depreciated
Buildings and improvements 347,931,335 180,715 (21,199) 28,292,912 376,383,763
Furniture and equipment 37,710,569 3,353,691 (8,712,980) - 32,351,280
Vehicles 3,876,361 673,133 (122,649) - 4,426,845
Total capital assets, being depreciated 389,518,265 4,207,539 (8,856,828) 28,292,912 413,161,888
Less accumulated depreciation:
Buildings and improvements (102,284,763) (8,503,960) 21,199 - (110,767,524)
Furniture and equipment (28,361,469) (3,114,969) 8,703,114 - (22,773,324)
Vehicles (1,988,703) (449,170) 114,747 - (2,323,126)
Total accumulated depreciation (132,634,935) (12,068,099) 8,839,060 - (135,863,974)
Total capital assets, being depreciated, net 256,883,330 (7,860,560) (17,768) 28,292,912 277,297,914
Governmental activities capital assets, net S 305,273,884 $§ 11,835,909 S (17,768) S - S 317,092,025
Business-type activities
Equipment S 1,586,966 $ 94,935 S - S - S 1,681,901
Accumulated depreciation (984,585) (73,578) - - (1,058,163)
Business-type activities capital assets, net $ 602,381 S 21,357 S - S - S 623,738
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Note 5. Capital Assets (Continued)

Depreciation expense was charged to governmental functions as follows:

Administration S 103,052
Instructional services 10,880,925
Special Education 23,663
Student Personnel Services 14,650
Health Services 9,165
Student transportation 395,760
Operation of plantand equipment 560,197
Maintenance of plant 76,860
Community Services 3,827

Total governmental depreciation expense 12,068,099

Depreciation expense was charged to business-type functions as follows:

Food service 73,578
Total business-type depreciation expense 73,578
Total depreciation expense S 12,141,677

Note 6. Health Insurance Reserves

The Board entered into a public entities health care consortium with the City of Salisbury (COS) and Wicomico
County Council through a memorandum of understanding during fiscal year 2002. The purpose of this consortium
is to reduce administrative expenses. Each entity has its premium rates adjusted based on its experience and
benefits. Beginning in July 2002, each entity agreed to fund a rate stabilization reserve equal to 10% of average
annual premiums. The agreement was originally effective through the period ended August 31, 2004 and is
currently extended on an annual basis. Effective September 2011, each entity agreed to increase the rate
stabilization reserve to 14% of average annual premiums. Effective September 2018, each entity agreed to
decrease the rate stabilization reserve to 12% of average annual premiums. The Board determines how to use the
amount of reserve which exceeds 12% of average annual premiums. Each year, the health care provider will
produce an annual settlement for all entities. If there is an experience loss, funding will come from the entities
based on their individual experience.

The consortium’s contract with its health insurance carrier requires that actual incurred claims and expenses be
compared to actual premiums paid to determine whether a deposit premium or deficit has been incurred each
year. Under the contract, the health insurance carrier can only require payment against the deficit of up to 7% of
the actual monthly premiums paid in the current fiscal year. The health insurance contract is based on a fiscal year
of September 1% through August 31, Settlement among the group will occur within four months after August 31
each year. For the period ended August 31, 2018, the Board’s share of the consortium’s settlement was a deficit of
$1,509,020. These amounts were included as other financing sources (uses) during the year ended June 30, 2019.
As of June 30, 2019, the rate stabilization reserve was calculated to be $3,963,201 compared to an ending balance
in the health care consortium account of $3,122,332, a deficit of $840,869 subject to the call provisions.

In May 2019, the entities agreed to revert back to the original rate stabilization reserve equal to 10% of average

annual premiums, effective beginning September 1, 2019. It was also agreed that the health insurance carrier will
only require payment against a deficit of up to 5% of the actual monthly premiums paid in the current fiscal year.
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For the year ended June 30, 2019, the health insurance reserve had the following activity:

BalanceatJuly 1,2018 S 5,176,640
Insurance settlement - 2018 (1,509,020)
Interest earned 89,729
Consulting and wellness program expenditures (235,017)
Transfer to Retiree Health Plan (400,000)

Balance atJune 30,2019 S 3,122,332

Note 7. Post-Retirement Health Care Benefits
Plan Description

During the year ended June 30, 2007, the Board of Education set up the Retiree Health Plan of the Board of
Education of Wicomico County (“the plan”). The Board joined with Wicomico County to form the ‘Retiree Health
Insurance Plan Trust of the Board of Education of Wicomico County and Wicomico County’ (“the trust”). Effective
June 29, 2009, the City of Salisbury was approved to join the trust. The trust was established to pool assets of its
members for investment purposes only. Each member of the trust is required to designate a member trustee.

The Plan is administered as a single-employer defined benefit plan with combined administrative functions for
efficiency. Each employer remains responsible for financing benefits of its own individual plan. Each employer
also remains individually responsible for its own separate actuarial valuations, and expenses and obligations are
measured like those of sole employers. The assets of the three entities are segregated within the trust. Separate
financial statements for the trust are not issued.

Assets of each member are reported in their respective financial statements using the economic resources
measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting, under which expenses are recorded when the liability is
incurred. Employer contributions are recorded in the accounting period in which they are earned and become
measurable. Investments are reported at fair value and are based on published prices and quotations from major
investment brokers at current exchange rates, if available.

The plan provides medical, prescription, dental, and vision benefits to eligible retirees and their spouses.

Beginning in 2017, the Board funds 70% of the individual health care insurance costs for retirees who were hired
prior to July 1, 2016 based on the rules of their respective pension; and who had accumulated at least 10 years of
service with the Board prior to their retirement. For employees hired on or after July 1, 2016, the Board funds 50%
of the individual health care insurance costs for Unit 1, 3, and 4 retirees with 15-19 years of service; 60% of the
individual health care insurance costs for Unit 1, 3, and 4 retirees with 20-24 years of service; and 70% of the
individual health care insurance costs for Unit 1, 3, and 4 retirees with 25 or more years of service. The Board
contributes 70% of the individual health care insurance costs for Unit 2 and Executive retirees with at least 10
years of service.

The Board previously funded 70% of the individual health care insurance costs for eligible retirees who were
qualified to retire on or after July 17, 2007 and who had accumulated at least 10 years of service, and 55% of the
individual health care insurance costs for eligible retirees who had accumulated at least 15 years of service with
the Board prior to retirement (before July 17, 2007). As of July 1, 2018, approximately 890 retirees were receiving
benefits and 1,882 active employees are participating in the plan. There were no terminated plan participants
entitled to but not yet receiving benefits.
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Funding Policy

The required contribution is based on projected pay-as-you-go financing requirements with an additional amount
to pre-fund benefits as determined annually. For the current fiscal year, the Board contributed $4.71 million to the
plan, including approximately $3.88 million for current claim costs (approximately 70% of total premiums) and an
additional $830 thousand to pre-fund benefits. Plan members receiving benefits contributed approximately 30%
of total premiums, through their required contributions of $221 per month for retirees-only coverage (if under 65),
$147 per month for retirees-only coverage (if 65 or older) and $1,186 for retiree and spouse coverage. These
monthly premium costs are for PPO coverage or EPO coverage with Dental and Vision for those retirees who had
more than 10 years of service with the Board.

Annual OPEB Cost and Net OPEB Liability

The Board’s total OPEB liability is an amount actuarially determined. The following table shows the components of
the Board’s total OPEB liability, fiduciary net position, and the resulting net OPEB liability as of June 30, 2019:

Total OPEB liability

Service cost S 3,649,771
Interest cost 5,064,042
Changes in benefit terms -
Differences between expected and actual experience (2,136,794)
Changes of assumptions 20,060,124
Benefit payments (3,883,057)
Net change in total OPEB liability S 22,754,086
Total OPEB liability, beginning of year 115,719,093
Total OPEB liability, end of year (a) S 138,473,179
Plan fiduciary net position
Contribution - employer S 4,714,139
Net investment income 724,230
Benefit payments (3,883,057)
Administrative expense -
Net changein fiduciary net position S 1,555,312
Fiduciary net position, beginning of year 21,196,921
Fiduciary net position, end of year (b) S 22,752,233
Net OPEB Liability (a-b) S 115,720,946
Fiduciary net position as a % of total OPEB liability 16.43%
Covered employee payroll S 116,827,713
Net OPEB liability as of % of payroll 99.05%

Payments for the net OPEB obligation have typically been liquidated in the General Fund in prior years. For the
fiscal year ended June 30, 2019, the Board recognized an OPEB expense of $9,617,039.
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Funding Status and Funding Progress
As of the most recent actuarial valuation date, the plan was 16.43% funded. The total OPEB liability for benefits
was $138,473,179 and the actuarial value of assets was $22,752,233 resulting in a net OPEB liability of
$115,720,946. The covered payroll (annual payroll of active employees covered by the plan) was $116,827,713

and the ratio of the net OPEB liability to the covered payroll was 99.05%.

The Board’s funding progress is summarized as follows:

Net OPEB Liability

Total as a Percentage
Measurement OPEB Fiduciary Net OPEB Funded Covered of Covered
Date Liability Net Position Liability Ratio Payroll Payroll
@) (b) (a-b) (b/a) (c) (a-b)/c
June 30,2017 $ 113,392,739 $ 19,398,234 S 93,994,505 17.11% S 111,445,147 84.34%
June 30,2018 115,719,093 21,196,921 94,522,172 18.32% 115,383,585 81.92%
June 30,2019 138,473,179 22,752,233 115,720,946 16.43% 116,827,713 99.05%

Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and assumptions about
the probability of occurrence of events far into the future. Examples include assumptions about future
employment, mortality, and the healthcare cost trend. Amounts determined regarding the funded status of the
plan and the annual required contributions of the employer are subject to continual revision as actual results are
compared with past expectations and new estimates are made about the future. The schedule of funding
progress, presented as required supplementary information following the notes to the financial statements,
presents multiyear trend information about whether the actuarial value of plan assets is increasing or decreasing
over time relative to the actuarial accrued liabilities for benefits.

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions

Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes are based on the substantive plan (the plan as understood
by the employer and the plan members) and include the type of benefits provided at the time of each valuation
and the historical pattern of sharing the benefit costs between the employer and plan members to that point. The
actuarial methods and assumptions used include techniques that are designed to reduce the effects of short-term
volatility in actuarial accrued liabilities and the actuarial value of assets, consistent with the long term perspective
of the calculations.

In the July 2018 actuarial valuation study, the projected unit credit actuarial cost method was used. The actuarial
assumptions included a 4.45% investment rate of return (net of administrative expenses), which is a blended rate
of the expected long-term investment returns on plan assets of 7.25% and municipal bond rates of 3.6% at the
beginning of the year and 6.50% and 3.9% at the end of the year, respectively. The GO Bond Buyer Index was
used to approximate the yields on the 20-year municipal bonds rated AA or higher. The healthcare cost trend rate
assumes subsequent premiums increasing 4.5% annually. Implicit in the investment return, salary scale and trend
rate assumption is an underlying general rate of inflation assumption of 2.5%.
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Additional information as of the latest actuarial valuation follows:

Actuarial Entry Age Normal

Amortization Method Level Percentage of Payroll, Open

Remaining Amortization Period 30 years

Asset Valuation Method Market Value of Assets

Inflation 2.50%

Salary Increases Age banded values ranging from 2.5% to 5.5%
Investment Rate of Return 4.45% for expense; based on a blended rate of

the long-term rate of return of 6.50% and
municipal bond rates of 3.9% at the end of the
year.

Medical Trend Per capita claims costs are projected to
increase by 7.0% in 2019 decreasing linearly
by 0.5% to an ultimate trend rate of 4.5%.

Mortality Pub-10 General Headcount-Weighted with
scale MP-2018 generational improvement and
a 3 year set forward.

Premium Equivalence Current pre-Medicare cost equivalent rates
are adjusted by age adjusting rates based
on the Society of Actuaries' 2013 study
"Health Care Costs - From Birth to Death."
Medicare supplement rates are assumed to
be age adjusted.

Age at the Retirement Probability of
Retirement Age beginning of year Rate Electing Coverage
55 20% 50%
56-61 10% 50%
62 40% 50%
63 - 64 20% 50%
65 100% 50%

Changes in assumptions in the latest actuarial valuation include a reduction of the investment rate of return from
7.25% to a blended rate of the long-term rate of return of 6.50% and municipal bond rates of 3.9%.

Sensitivity of the Total and Net OPEB Liability
The following table presents the Board’s total and net OPEB liability using the discount rate of 4.45%, as well as
what the net OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1% point lower or 1% point

higher than the current rate:

Board's Net OPEB

Discount Rate Liability
1% decrease 3.45% S 138,700,621
Current discount rate 4.45% S 115,720,946
1% increase 5.45% S 97,337,385
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The following table presents the Board’s total and net OPEB liability using the healthcare trend rate of 5.0%, as
well as what the net OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1% point lower or 1%
point higher than the current rate:

Health Care Board's Net OPEB
Trend Rate Liability
1% decrease 3.50% S 95,679,500
Current trend rate 4.50% S 115,720,946
1% increase 5.50% S 141,456,856

Deferred Inflows/Outflows of Resources related to OPEB

At June 30, 2019, the Board reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to
the OPEB plan from the following sources:

Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows

of Resources of Resources
Changes in assumptions S 17,194,392 § (1,614,772)
Net difference between projected and actual investment
earnings on OPEB plan investments 864,675 -
Difference between actual and expected experience - (1,831,538)
Board contributions subsequent to measurement date - -
Total S 18,059,067 S (3,446,310)

The deferred outflows of resources related to the net difference between projected and actual investment
earnings on OPEB plan investments are being amortized over the service life of 5 years. The deferred inflows of
resources related to the changes in assumptions are being amortized over the service life of 7 years. The following
table shows the remaining amortization of these balances:

Year End

June 30,
2020 S 2,469,603
2021 2,469,603
2022 2,469,604
2023 2,405,953
2024 2,237,520
Thereafter 2,560,474

S 14,612,757
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Note 8. Risk Management

The Board is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of assets; errors
and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters. The Board has joined the Maryland Association of
Boards of Education Workers’ Compensation Group Insurance Fund (the “Fund”), a public entity risk pool currently
providing workers compensation coverage for participating boards of education in the State of Maryland. The
Board pays an annual premium to the Fund each year which is calculated based on projected payroll. The
agreement for the Fund provides that it will be self-sustaining through member premiums and will reinsure
through commercial companies for claims which exceed coverage limits as specified in the agreement. Should the
Fund encounter deficits in the workers compensation claims fund, this deficit may be made up from additional
assessments of boards participating in the fund. The Board also joined the Maryland Association of Board of
Education’s Group Insurance Pool (the Pool) on July 1, 2000. The Pool is a public entity risk pool providing property
and casualty insurance coverage for its participating members, who are also boards of education in the State of
Maryland. The Board pays an annual premium to the Pool, based on student enrollment, vehicle inventory,
insurable value of board property and insurance claims experience from previous years. The agreement for the
Pool provides that it will be self-sustaining through member premiums and will reinsure through commercial
companies for claims that exceed coverage limits for legal liability, property, and crime exposures specified in the
agreement. Should the Pool encounter deficits in either the property or casualty fund, this deficit may be made up
from additional assessments of boards participating in the Pool. The Board continues to carry commercial
insurance for other risks, including pollution liability, retirement plan fiduciary liability, employee health and life
insurance. Settled claims have not exceeded insurance coverage for each of the past three fiscal years, and there
have been no significant reductions in insurance coverage from the prior year.

In 2015, senior management created a Risk Management Committee, with the initial purpose to review reported
employee injuries and varies insurance claims involving Board property, with a goal to identify underlying risks and
primary cause of injuries or loss. As all entities face uncertainty and risk, the future mission of the committee will
be to institute a formal program of Enterprise Risk Management (ERM). ERM is a continuous process to identify
potential events that may affect the school system, determine what level of risk can be assumed and provide
reasonable assurance that objectives can be achieved.

Note 9. Pension Plans
Substantially all of the Board’s employees are covered by one of three pension plans.

Teachers’ Retirement System and the Teachers’ Pension System

Plan Description

The State Retirement Agency is the administrator of the Maryland State Retirement and Pension System (the
System). The System was established by the State Personnel and Pensions Article of the Annotated Code of
Maryland to provide retirement allowances and other benefits. The System is comprised of the Teachers’
Retirement and Pension Systems, Employees’ Retirement and Pension Systems, State Police Retirement System,
Judges’ Retirement System, and the Law Enforcement Officers’ Pension System. Responsibility for the System’s
administration and operation is vested in a 15 member Board of Trustees. The State Retirement Agency issues a
publicly available financial report that includes financial statements and required supplementary information for
the System. That report may be obtained by writing to the State Retirement and Pension System of Maryland, 120
E. Baltimore Street, Suite 1660, Baltimore, Maryland 21202-1600 or on-line at www.sra.maryland.gov.

The System’s financial statements are prepared on the accrual basis of accounting in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. For purposes of measuring net pension liability,
deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions, and pension expense,
information about the fiduciary net position of the System and additions to/deductions from the System’s fiduciary
net position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by the System. For this purpose,
benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due and payable in
accordance with benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value.
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Note 9. Pension Plans (Continued)

The Teachers’ Retirement System of the State of Maryland was established on August 1, 1927 and is administered
in accordance with Article 73B of the Annotated Code of Maryland for the purpose of providing retirement
allowances and other benefits to teachers in the State. In addition, on January 1, 1980, the Teachers’ Pension
System of the State of Maryland was established. In this regard, teachers hired on or after January 1, 1980
become members of the Teachers’ Pension System, unless they elect to join an optional retirement program.
Existing members of the Teachers’ Retirement System have the option of remaining in the Teachers’ Retirement
System or transferring to the Teachers’ Pension System.

General Plan Policies

Teachers and related occupations are covered by the Teachers’ Retirement System or the Teachers’ Pension
System of the State of Maryland, both of which are cost-sharing, multiple-employer public employee retirement
systems. The State of Maryland pays the unfunded liability for the Teachers’ Systems. Total contributions paid by
the State to the Plan for the year ended June 30, 2019 were $11,841,729. On-behalf payments are recognized as
revenues and expenditures in the Board’s general fund. The Board has no contingent liability for funding deficits in
the system should such occur.

In addition to the above contribution, during fiscal year 2019, in accordance with Maryland Senate Bill 1301,
Budget Reconciliation and Financing Act of 2012, the Board is required to pay the State 100% of the normal cost
portion of the total pension cost for teachers. The normal cost is the portion of the total retirement benefit cost
that is allocated to the current year of the employee’s service. As contractually required, during fiscal year 2019,
the Board contributed $4,567,172 to the Teachers’ Retirement and Pension System.

Significant Plan Benefits and Policies

The following is a general description of the significant plan benefits and related contribution requirements for the
Teachers’ Retirement System and the Teachers’ Pension System:

Teachers’ Retirement System

Retirement Benefits:
A member may retire with full benefits after attaining the age of 60, or after completing 30 years of creditable
service regardless of age. The annual retirement allowance is equal to 1/55 of a member’s average final
compensation (i.e. average of the member’s three highest years of annual earnable compensation) multiplied by
the number of years and months of accumulated creditable service. A member may retire with reduced benefits
after completing 25 years of creditable service regardless of age. Retirement allowances are adjusted each year
based on the Consumer Price Index. Cost-of-living adjustments (COLAs) are applied to all allowances payable for
the year, however, the method by which the COLA is computed depends upon elections made by members and is
tied to member contributions.

Vested Allowance:
A member terminating employment before attaining retirement age but after completing 10 years of creditable
service becomes eligible for a vested retirement allowance, provided the member lives to the age of 60 and does
not withdraw his or her accumulated contributions. Members terminating employment before attaining
retirement age and before completing 10 years of creditable service are refunded their accumulated contributions
plus earned interest.

Employee and Employer Contributions:
Members of the Teachers Retirement System are required to contribute to the systems a fixed percentage of their
regular salaries and wages (e.g. 7% or 5%, depending on the allowance option selected). The contributions are
deducted from each member’s salary and wage payment and are remitted to the systems on a regular, periodic
basis.
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Note 9. Pension Plans (Continued)
The State of Maryland contributed $11,841,729 on behalf of the Board while the Board contributed $4,567,172
during fiscal year 2019 as a direct result of Maryland Senate Bill 1301. On-behalf payments are recognized as

revenues and expenditures in the Board’s general fund.

Teachers’ Pension System

Retirement Benefits:
A member may retire with full benefits after completing 30 years of eligibility service regardless of age, or at age
62 or older with specified years of eligibility service. On retirement from service, a member shall receive an annual
service pension allowance. The annual pension allowance is equal to 1.2% of average compensation for the three
highest consecutive years as an employee for years of creditable service accrued prior to July 1, 1998 and 1.8% of
average compensation for the three highest consecutive years as an employee for years of creditable service
accrued on or after July 1, 1998. Members are eligible for early service pension allowances upon attaining age 55
with at least 15 years of eligibility service.

Vested Allowance:
A member terminating employment before attaining retirement age, but after completing 10 years of eligibility
service, becomes eligible for a vested pension allowance provided the member lives to age 62. Members
terminating employment before attaining retirement age and before completing 10 years of eligibility service are
refunded their accumulated contributions plus earned interest.

Employee and Employer Contributions:
Effective July 1, 2011, members of the Teachers’ Pension System are required to contribute to the systems 7% of
their regular salaries and wages up to the social security wage base in the year ending June 30, 2019. The
contributions are deducted from each member’s salary and wage payments and are remitted to the systems on a
regular, periodic basis.

For members enrolled on and after July 1, 2011, the employee contribution is 7%; vesting requires ten years of
eligible service; service retirement is at age 65 with ten years of eligibility service or based on the Rule of 90 (age
and service must equal 90); early service retirement is age 60 with 15 years of eligibility service; average final
compensation is a five year average; and the benefit multiplier per year is 1.5%.

The State of Maryland contributed $11,841,729 on behalf of the Board while the Board contributed $4,567,172
during fiscal year 2019 as a direct result of Maryland Senate Bill 1301. On-behalf payments are recognized as
revenues and expenditures in the Board’s general fund.

Employer’s Payroll Covered Under the Plan

The employer’s payroll for the year ended June 30, 2019 and payroll covered under the Teachers’ Retirement and
Pension Systems is as follows:

Total payroll S 128,129,160
Payroll covered under the plan S 105,031,941

Pension Liabilities and Pension Expense

Because the State of Maryland pays the unfunded liability for the Teachers’ Retirement and Pension Systems and
the Board pays the normal cost for the Teachers’ Systems, the Board is not required to record its’ share of the
unfunded pension liability for the Teachers’ Systems, the State of Maryland is required to record that liability.
Total pension expense related to the Teachers’ Systems totaled $4,567,172 for the year ended June 30, 2019, the
Board’s required portion of the normal cost.
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Note 9. Pension Plans (Continued)

The amount recognized by the Board as its proportionate share of the net pension liability, the related State
support, and the total portion of the net pension liability that was associated with the Board were as follows:

2019
Board's proportionate share of the net pension liability
(Employees' Systems) S -
State's proportionate share of the net pension liability
(Teachers' Systems) 124,339,367
Total $ 124,339,367

The net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2018, and the total pension liability used to calculate the net
pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date. The Board’s proportion of the net
pension liability was calculated as follows by the System(s):

1. Net pension liability for the entire System was calculated. For purposes of funding the System, all
calculations are determined on an actuarial basis and are completed through the development of
rates based on two separate asset pools, one for employees of the State of Maryland and one for
primary government employees.

2. Determined the total contributions to the System by the State and by the primary governments,
inclusive of any underfunding of contributions.

3. Based on the number of participants at each Board of Education, calculate the difference between
what each Board would have contributed if they funded at the rate of all other participating
governments and what the Board actually contributed. The difference between what the Board
contributed and what they would have contributed if they funded at the rate of the other
participating governments, is then added to the total contribution to the System, to calculate the
System’s adjusted contribution.

4. Calculated for each participating government, their percentage of the adjusted System contribution
by dividing the total adjusted System contribution into each primary government contribution.
Since the Board has no contingent liability for funding deficits in the Teachers’ Retirement and
Pension Systems, the Board did not record a proportionate share of the net pension liability as of
June 30, 2019 related to the System.
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Note 9. Pension Plans (Continued)
Actuarial Assumptions

The total pension liability in the June 30, 2018 actuarial valuation was determined using the following actuarial
assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement:

Actuarial Entry Age Normal

Amortization Method Level Percentage of Payroll, Closed
Remaining Amortization Period 22 years for State system

Asset Valuation Method 5-year smoothed market; 20% collar
Inflation 2.60% general, 3.10% wage

Salary Increases 3.10%t0 9.10% including inflation
Investment Rate of Return 7.45%

Retirement Age Experience-based table of rates thatare

specific to the type of eligibility condition.
Last updated for the 2015 valuation pursuant
to an experience study of the period 2010-
2014.

Mortality RP-2014 Mortality Tables with generational
mortality projections using scale MP-2014,
calibrated to MSRPS experience.

Adjustments to the roll-forward liabilities were made to reflect the following assumption changes in the 2018
valuation:

e Salary increase assumption changed from 3.15% - 9.15% to 3.10% - 9.10%, including inflation
¢ Inflation assumption changed from 2.65% to 2.60% for general and 3.15% to 3.10% for wage
¢ Investment rate of return assumption changed from 7.50% to 7.45%

Investments

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a building-block method
in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of pension plan
investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to
produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighing the expected future real rates of return by the target
asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. Best estimates of geometric real rates of return
were adopted by the Board of Trustees after considering input from the System’s investment consultant(s) and
actuary(s). For each major asset class that is included in the System’s target asset allocation, these best estimates
are summarized in the following table:

Long-Term Expected

Asset Class Target Allocation Real Rate of Return

Public Equity 37% 5.8%
Private Equity 13% 6.7%
Rate Sensitive 19% 1.1%
Credit Opportunity 9% 3.6%
Real Assets 14% 4.83%
Absolute Return 8% 3.2%
Total 100%
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Note 9. Pension Plans (Continued)
Discount rate

A single discount rate of 7.45% was used to measure the total pension liability. The single discount rate was based
on the expected rate of return on pension plan investments of 7.45%. The projection of cash flows used to
determine this single discount rate assumed that plan member contributions will be made at the current
contribution rate and that employer contributions will be made at rates equal to the difference between
actuarially determined contribution rates and the member rate. Based on these assumptions, the pension plan’s
fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current plan
members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all
periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.

Additional information, including sensitivity measures and ten year historical trends, can be obtained from the
separately issued State Retirement and Pension System of Maryland Annual Financial Report. That report may be
obtained by writing to the State Retirement and Pension System of Maryland, 120 E. Baltimore Street, Suite 1660,
Baltimore, Maryland 21202-1600 or on-line at www.sra.maryland.gov.

Retirement Plan for Employees of the Board of Education of Wicomico County

General Plan Policies

Employees not covered by the Teachers’ Retirement System or the Teachers’ Pension System of Maryland are
covered by the Retirement Plan for Employees at the Board of Education of Wicomico County, a single-employer,
defined benefit plan. Benefits and refunds of the postemployment defined benefit plan are recognized when due
and payable in accordance with the terms of the plan. The costs of administering the plan are financed by
contributions made and income earned from investments. Separate financial statements are not available.

The Plan’s financial statements, as reported in the Schedule of Fiduciary Net Position, are prepared on an accrual
basis, modified to include unrealized gains or losses on marketable securities owned by the Plan.

Plan member contributions are recognized in the period in which the contributions are due. Employer
contributions are recognized when due and the Board of Educations has made a formal commitment to provide
the contributions. Benefits and refunds are recognized when due and payable.

Investments in securities are valued at current market prices. The trust fund is invested, approximately, in 72%
equities, 1% cash and cash equivalents, and 27% fixed income securities on a cost basis valued at year end.

The annual contribution to the plan will be determined by the Wicomico County Board of Education as part of its
annual budget. The contribution must be deposited monthly and the funding goal will be the greater of the
following:

1) The level contribution required to fund all current and future benefits promised to current plan
participants over the next 20 years, or

2) 7.00% of the salaries of eligible Plan participants
A Board of Trustees (Trustees) was established to oversee the implementation of and adherence to the Investment
Policy and to oversee the Investment Manager. The Trustees will oversee the general investment philosophy;

provide oversight of the Investment Manager; and inform the Employer, or designees of the Employer, of the plan
performance on a quarterly basis. Compliance with the Trust Agreement will be required.
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Significant Plan Benefits and Policies
The specific benefit provisions of the Board of Education’s plan were established by the adoption of the plan
document. The plan provides for benefits upon retirement, death, disablement and termination of employment, if
certain eligibility conditions are met.
The following is a summary of significant plan benefits and policies:
1) Eligibility — Employees are eligible if they are at least 18 years of age.
2) Contributions — Each year an employee is required to contribute 2% of his earnings up to $4,800 plus
4% of his/her earnings in excess of $4,800. Interest is credited at 5% per year. The Board contributes
the remaining actuarially determined amounts necessary.

3) Retirement:

a. Normal retirement is available for employees who are age 65 and over and have obtained 5
years of service.

b. Early retirement is available for employees with five years or more experience and who are
age 55 or older and are within 10 years of normal retirement date.

4) Benefits at Retirement:

a. For normal retirement, the member will receive a benefit equal to 1 2/3% of final average
earnings times the years and months of service after age 18.

b. Early retirement benefits are determined in the same manner as the normal retirement
benefits but based on service and salary accrued or earned up to date of early retirement
and reduced by the appropriate early retirement factors.

5) Vesting — A participant is 100% vested after five years of continuous service with the employer.

Employee’s Payroll Covered Under the Plan

The employee’s payroll for the year ended June 30, 2019 and payroll covered, as of the latest actuarial valuation,
under the Plan is as follows:

Total payroll S 128,129,160
Payroll covered under the plan S 10,456,011

Plan membership at July 1, 2018, the date of the latest actuarial valuation, consisted of 301 active plan members,

166 retirees and beneficiaries receiving benefits, and 21 terminated plan participants entitled to but not yet
receiving benefits.
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Pension Liability and Pension Expense
The Board’s total pension liability is an amount actuarially determined in accordance with the parameters of GASB

Statement 67. The following table shows the components of the Board’s total pension liability, fiduciary net
position, and the resulting net pension liability:

June 30, 2015 June 30, 2016 June 30, 2017 June 30,2018 June 30, 2019
Total pension liability

Service cost S 842,490 $ 854,284 S 772,678 S 775,125 $ 953,431
Interest 1,849,338 1,898,022 1,850,305 1,960,374 2,013,079
Benefit payments (1,250,672) (1,502,818) (1,456,131) (1,558,362) (1,806,186)
Changein assumption - (260,240) - 2,233,672 1,280,142
Experience (gain) loss - 19,531 401,563 643,334 797,759
Net change in total pension liability 1,441,156 1,008,779 1,568,415 4,054,143 3,238,225
Total pension liability - beginning 23,786,836 25,227,992 26,236,771 27,805,186 31,859,329
Total pension liability - ending (a) 25,227,992 26,236,771 27,805,186 31,859,329 35,097,554

Plan fiduciary net position

Contribution - employer 722,205 753,562 759,739 788,359 797,962
Contribution - plan member 381,911 399,334 403,598 338,571 425,044
Net investmentincome 88,504 (400,584) 2,646,737 1,402,062 808,452
Benefit payments (1,250,672) (1,502,591) (1,456,131) (1,476,723) (1,806,186)
Administrative expenses (49,433) (65,984) (52,785) (50,396) (45,957)
Net change in plan fiduciary net position (107,485) (816,263) 2,301,158 1,001,873 179,315
Plan fiduciary net position - beginning 21,620,477 21,512,992 20,696,729 22,997,887 23,999,760
Plan fiduciary net position - ending (b) 21,512,992 20,696,729 22,997,887 23,999,760 24,179,075
Net pension liability (a - b) S 3,715,000 $ 5,540,042 $ 4,807,299 S 7,859,569 $ 10,918,479

Payments for the net pension liability have typically been liquidated in the General Fund in prior years. For the
fiscal year ended June 30, 2019, the Board recognized pension expense of $2,281,076 related to the Retirement
Plan for Employees at the Board of Education of Wicomico County.
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Note 9. Pension Plans (Continued)
Deferred Inflows/Outflows of Resources

At June 30, 2019, the Board reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to
the retirement plan for employees from the following sources:

Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows

of Resources of Resources
Changes in assumptions S 2,555,899 S (111,532)
Net difference between projected and actual investment
earnings on pension plan investments 1,146,149 (463,414)
Difference between actual and expected experience 1,302,743 -
Total S 5,004,791 S (574,946)

The deferred inflows and outflows related to non-investment activity are being amortized over the remaining
service life of 6 and 7 years. The net difference in investment earnings for is being amortized over a closed five
year period. The following table shows the amortization of these balances:

Year End

June 30,
2020 S 1,233,509
2021 823,106
2022 1,054,814
2023 972,100
2024 346,316

S 4,429,845
Funding Status and Funding Progress

As of the most recent actuarial valuation date, the plan was 68.89% funded. The total pension liability for benefits
was $35,097,554 and the plan fiduciary net position was $24,179,075 resulting in a net pension liability of
$10,918,479. The covered payroll (annual payroll of active employees covered by the plan) was $10,456,011 and
the ratio of the net pension liability to the covered payroll was 104.42%.

Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and assumptions about
the probability of occurrence of events far into the future. Amounts determined regarding the funded status of
the plan and the annual required contributions of the employer are subject to continual revision as actual results
are compared with past expectations and new estimates are made about the future. The schedule of the
employer’s net pension liability, presented as required supplementary information following the notes to the
financial statements, presents multiyear trend information about whether the actuarial value of plan assets is
increasing or decreasing over time relative to the total pension liability for benefits.
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Actuarial Assumptions

Additional information as of the latest actuarial valuation follows:

Actuarial Entry Age Normal

Amortization Method Level Dollar, open basis

Remaining Amortization Period 30 years

Asset Valuation Method Market Value of Assets

Inflation 2.50%

Salary Increases Age banded values ranging from 2.5% to
5.5%

Investment Rate of Return 6.50%

Retirement Age Graded from ages 55-64; 100% at age 65

Mortality Pub-2010 General Table as released by the

Society of Actuaries in 2019 set forward 3
years with scale MP2018 improvement.

Changes in assumptions used in the latest actuarial valuation include an update to the mortality tables for
governmental employers.

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a building-block method
in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of pension plan
investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to
produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target
asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation.

Building Blocks

Long-term Range of Expected
Asset Class Target Allocations Historical Returns Returns
Fixed Income 30.00% - 40.00% 3.00% - 4.00% 0.90% - 1.60%
Equities 50.00% - 60.00% 8.00% - 10.00% 4.00% - 6.00%
Other 0.00% - 10.00% 0.00% - 1.00% 0.00% - 0.10%
4.90%-7.70%
Rate selected: 6.50%

Based on the current Investment Policy and Funding Policy, the Plan is projected not to deplete; therefore, the
same rate of 6.50% is used for both the discount rate and the long-term rate of expected investment returns. The
projection of cash flow to determine the discount rate assumed the contributions from plan members will be
made at the current contribution rate and that contributions from the Board will be made at contractually
required rates, actuarially determined. Based on those assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net position was
projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current plan members. Therefore, the
long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit
payments to determine the total pension liability.

The following represents the net pension liability of the Board calculated using the discount rate of 6.50%, as well
as what the Board’s net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one-
percentage-point lower or one-percentage-point higher than the current rate:

1% Decrease Current Rate 1% Increase
(5.50%) (6.50%) (7.50%)
Net Pension Liability 14,743,254 10,918,479 7,675,764
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The annual money-weighted rate of return on pension plan investments, net of pension plan investment expenses,
was 3.36%. The money-weighted rate of return expresses investment performance, net of expense, adjusted for

the change in amounts actually invested.

401(a) Retirement Plan

Effective July 1, 2001, the Board implemented and began administering the Board of Education of Wicomico
County 401(a) retirement plan which is a defined contribution plan. The employer’s contribution is determined
annually by the Board and is based on eligible participant’s contributions to the Board’s 403(b) retirement plan.
The Board has the right to amend the plan at any time according to the Plan document. Eligible employees must
be 18 years of age and become fully vested after five years of service. During the year ended June 30, 2019, the
Board did not make a matching contribution to the plan.

Note 10. Trust Plans Condensed Financial Statements

The condensed statement of fiduciary net position for the Pension and Retiree Health Plan Trust is as follows:

CONDENSED STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET POSITION

401(a) Employees Retiree Health
Retirement Plan Pension Plan Trust Total
ASSETS
Current assets S 4,360,323 S 24,179,258 S 22,752,233 S 51,291,814
Total assets 4,360,323 24,179,258 22,752,233 51,291,814
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities - 183 - 183
NET POSITION
Held in trust for retirement
and other benefits S 4,360,323 S 24,179,075 S 22,752,233 S 51,291,631
The condensed statement of changes in fiduciary net position for the Pension and Retiree Health Plan Trust is as
follows:
CONDENSED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION
401(a) Employees Retiree Health
Retirement Plan Pension Plan Trust Total
ADDITIONS
Contributions S - S 1,223,006 S 4,714,139 S 5,937,145
Net investment earnings 407,739 808,452 724,230 1,940,421
Total additions 407,739 2,031,458 5,438,369 7,877,566
DEDUCTIONS
Pension benefit payments 154,249 1,806,186 3,883,057 5,843,492
Administrative expenses 8,729 45,957 - 54,686
Total deductions 162,978 1,852,143 3,883,057 5,898,178
Changein net position 244,761 179,315 1,555,312 1,979,388
Net position - beginning of year 4,115,562 23,999,760 21,196,921 49,312,243
Net position - end of year S 4,360,323 S 24,179,075 S 22,752,233 $ 51,291,631
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Note 11. Capital Leases

The Board of Education has entered into several lease agreements as lessee for financing the acquisition of
computers, software, and vehicles. These lease agreements qualify as a capital lease for accounting purposes and,
therefore, have been recorded at the present value of the future minimum lease payments as of the date of their
inception.

The following is an analysis of equipment currently being leased under capital leases as of June 30, 2019:

Capital
GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES Assets
Vehicles:
2016 S 121,179
2017 121,109
2018 119,360
Computers:
2016 1,831,543
2017 1,572,158
2018 1,562,326
Total S 5,327,675
Approximate future minimum lease commitments are as follows:
GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES
Computers/Vehicles
Fiscal Year Ending 2019 2018 2017 Total
June 30, 2020 S 431,250 $ 431,250 S 431,250 $ 1,293,750
June 30, 2021 431,250 431,250 - 862,500
June 30, 2022 431,250 - - 431,250
1,293,750 862,500 431,250 2,587,500
Less: interest (71,376) (21,786) (5,335) (98,497)

Present value of future
minimum lease payments S 1,222,374 S 840,714 S 425915 S 2,489,003

Interest expense related to the above capital leases, with interest rates ranging from 1.18% to 3.17%, was
approximately $39,000 for the year ended June 30, 2019.
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Note 12. Long-Term Liabilities

Long-term liability activity for the year ended June 30, 2019 was as follows:

Beginning Ending Due Within  Long Term
Balance Additions Reductions Balance One Year Portion

GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES
Accrued compensated absences $ 2,750,206 S 317,777 $ 345,784 S 2,722,199 $ 310,266 $ 2,411,933

Capital leases 2,588,476 1,653,624 1,753,097 2,489,003 1,238,425 1,250,578
Net pension liability 7,859,569 3,058,910 - 10,918,479 - 10,918,479
Net OPEB liability 94,522,172 21,198,774 - 115,720,946 - 115,720,946
Total $107,720,423 $26,229,085 $ 2,098,881 $131,850,627 51,548,691 $130,301,936

The Board does not have the authority to incur bonded debt. Payments for compensated absences and net
pension liability have typically been liquidated in the General Fund in prior years. Payments for capital leases are
liguidated from the General Fund for governmental activities and the Food Service Fund for business-type
activities.

Note 13. Unearned Revenue — Special Revenue

Unearned revenue in the special revenue fund consists of federal and state grants and other revenues that have
not been expended by June 30, 2019. Unearned revenue at June 30, 2019 consists of the following:

Medical assistance provider payments S 3,156,852
Various other state and federal programs 276,795
S 3,433,647

Note 14. Commitments and Contingencies

The Board regularly enters into contracts for goods and services during the normal course of operations. The
contracts often extend over fiscal years. The Board has signed contracts for the HVAC systems renovation at
Parkside High School in the amount of $18,157,543. At June 30, 2019, $15,228,503 had been expended related to
these contracts.

The Board receives a substantial amount of its support from Federal, State and local agencies in the form of grants.
Costs charged to the respective grant programs are subject to audit and adjustment by the grantor agencies;
therefore, to the extent that the Board has not complied with the rules and regulations governing the grants,
refunds of any money received may be required and the collectability of any related receivable at June 30, 2019
may be impaired. In the opinion of the Board, there are no significant contingent liabilities relating to compliance
with the rules and regulations governing the respective grants; therefore, no provision has been recorded in the
accompanying financial statements for such contingencies.

The Board is a defendant in various lawsuits. After considering all relevant facts and the opinion of legal counsel, it

is management’s opinion that such litigation will not have a material adverse effect on the financial position of the
Board.
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THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF WICOMICO COUNTY

SCHEDULE OF FUNDING PROGRESS AND EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS
Retiree Health Insurance Plan Trust

Schedule of Funding Progress:

UAALas a
Total Unfunded Percentage
Measurement OPEB Fiduciary Net OPEB Funded Covered of Covered
Date Liability Net Position Liability Ratio Payroll Payroll
(a) (b) (a-b) (b/a) (c) (b-a)/c
June 30,2017 $ 113,392,739 S 19,398,234 S 93,994,505 17.11% 111,445,147 84.34%
June 30, 2018 115,719,093 21,196,921 94,522,172 18.32% 115,383,585 81.92%
June 30, 2019 138,473,179 22,752,233 115,720,946 16.43% 116,827,713 99.05%
Schedule of Employer Contributions:
2018 2019
Actuarially determined contribution S 7,257,099 7,395,195
Contribution in relation to actuarially-determined
contribution 4,516,695 4,714,139
Contribution deficiency (excess) 2,740,404 2,681,056
Covered-employee payroll 115,383,585 116,827,713
Contributions as a percentage of covered-employee payroll 3.91% 4.04%

Schedules are intended to provide 10-year trend information. Additional years will be displayed as available.
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THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF WICOMICO COUNTY

SCHEDULE OF OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (OPEB) LIABILITY AND RELATED RATIOS

Retiree Health Insurance Plan Trust

Total OPEB liability
Service cost
Interest cost
Changes in benefit terms
Differences between expected and actual experience
Changes of assumptions
Benefit payments

Net change in total OPEB liability
Total OPEB liability, beginning of year

Total OPEB liability, end of year (a)

Plan fiduciary net position
Contribution - employer
Net investment income
Benefit payments
Administrative expense

Net change in fiduciary net position

Fiduciary net position, beginning of year
Fiduciary net position, end of year (b)

Net OPEB Liability (a-b)

Fiduciary net position as a % of total OPEB liability

Covered employee payroll
Net OPEB liability as of % of payroll

Annual money-weighted rate of return

2018 2019
3,600,890 $ 3,649,771
4,816,701 5,064,042

- (2,136,794)

(2,260,680) 20,060,124
(3,830,557) (3,883,057)
2,326,354 $ 22,754,086

113,392,739 115,719,093

115,719,093 138,473,179
4,516,695 4,714,139
1,184,552 724,230
(3,830,557) (3,883,057)

(72,003) -
1,798,687 $ 1,555,312

19,398,234 21,196,921
21,196,921 $ 22,752,233
94,522,172 $ 115,720,946

18.32% 16.43%
115,383,585 $ 116,827,713
81.92% 99.05%
5.84% 3.30%

Schedules are intended to provide 10-year trend information. Additional years will be displayed as available.
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THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF WICOMICO COUNTY

SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN THE EMPLOYER'S
NET PENSION LIABILITY AND RELATED RATIOS
Pension Plan for Employees

Schedule of Changes in Employer's Net Pension Liability:

Total pension liability

June 30, 2015

June 30, 2016

June 30, 2017

June 30, 2018

June 30, 2019

Schedules are intended to provide 10-year trend information. Additional years will be displayed as available.
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Service cost S 842,490 S 854,284 S 772,678 S 775,125 S 953,431
Interest 1,849,338 1,898,022 1,850,305 1,960,374 2,013,079
Benefit payments (1,250,672) (1,502,818) (1,456,131) (1,558,362) (1,806,186)
Change in assumption - (260,240) - 2,233,672 1,280,142
Experience (gain) loss - 19,531 401,563 643,334 797,759
Net change in total pension liability 1,441,156 1,008,779 1,568,415 4,054,143 3,238,225
Total pension liability - beginning 23,786,836 25,227,992 26,236,771 27,805,186 31,859,329
Total pension liability - ending (a) 25,227,992 26,236,771 27,805,186 31,859,329 35,097,554
Plan fiduciary net position
Contribution - employer 722,205 753,562 759,739 788,359 797,962
Contribution - plan member 381,911 399,334 403,598 338,571 425,044
Net investment income 88,504 (400,584) 2,646,737 1,402,062 808,452
Benefit payments (1,250,672) (1,502,591) (1,456,131) (1,476,723) (1,806,186)
Administrative expenses (49,433) (65,984) (52,785) (50,396) (45,957)
Net change in plan fiduciary net position (107,485) (816,263) 2,301,158 1,001,873 179,315
Plan fiduciary net position - beginning 21,620,477 21,512,992 20,696,729 22,997,887 23,999,760
Plan fiduciary net position - ending (b) 21,512,992 20,696,729 22,997,887 23,999,760 24,179,075
Net pension liability (a - b) S 3,715,000 S 5,540,042 S 4,807,299 S 7,859,569 S 10,918,479
Annual money-weighted rate of return 0.41% -1.90% 12.11% 5.97% 3.36%
Schedule of Employer's Net Pension Liability:
Plan Net Position Net Pension
Actuarial Total asa % of Liability
Valuation Pension Plan Net Net Pension Total Pension Covered asa % of
Date Liability Position Liability Liability Payroll Covered Payroll
June 30, 2014 S 23,786,836 $ 21,620,477 S 2,166,359 90.89% $ 9,186,822 23.58%
June 30, 2015 25,227,992 21,512,992 3,715,000 85.27% 9,616,697 38.63%
June 30, 2016 26,236,771 20,696,729 5,540,042 78.88% 10,005,366 55.37%
June 30, 2017 27,805,186 22,997,887 4,807,299 82.71% 10,146,618 47.38%
June 30, 2018 31,859,329 23,999,760 7,859,569 75.33% 10,069,862 78.05%
June 30, 2019 35,097,554 24,179,075 10,918,479 68.89% 10,456,011 104.42%
Schedule of Employer Contributions:
Actual
Actuarially Contribution Contribution
Year Ended Determined Actual Deficiency Covered as of % of

June 30, Contribution Contribution (Excess) Payroll Covered Payroll

2014 S 615,285 S 705,355 S (90,070) $ 9,186,822 7.68%

2015 569,976 722,205 (152,229) 9,616,697 7.51%

2016 683,328 753,562 (70,234) 10,005,366 7.53%

2017 578,971 759,739 (180,768) 10,146,618 7.49%

2018 496,192 788,359 (292,167) 10,069,862 7.83%

2019 831,297 797,962 33,335 10,456,011 7.63%



THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF WICOMICO COUNTY

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES
BUDGET AND ACTUAL
GENERAL FUND
Year Ended June 30, 2019

Budgeted Amounts Variance With
Original Final Actual Final Budget
REVENUES
Wicomico County appropriation S 44,164,012 S 44,164,012 S 44,164,012 S -
Total Wicomcio County appropriation 44,164,012 44,164,012 44,164,012 -
Other local:

Tuition - nonresident pupils 20,000 20,000 108,329 88,329

Tuition - other 33,000 33,000 51,565 18,565

Student payments/fees 84,000 84,000 77,333 (6,667)

Earnings on investments 200,000 200,000 635,156 435,156

Rental of school facilities 90,000 90,000 129,670 39,670

Miscellaneous 112,000 112,000 161,019 49,019
Total other local 539,000 539,000 1,163,072 624,072

State of Maryland revenues:

Current expense aid 75,746,910 75,746,910 75,746,910 -

Compensatory education 44,251,113 44,251,113 44,251,113 -

Special education 7,565,233 7,565,233 7,565,233 -

Guaranteed tax base 7,089,884 7,089,884 7,089,884 -

Limited English proficient 5,992,703 5,992,703 5,992,703 -

Transportation 5,379,459 5,379,459 5,095,754 (283,705)

Non-public placement 260,000 260,000 (28,494) (288,494)

Aging schools 106,627 106,627 202,970 96,343

Miscellaneous 4,000 4,000 - (4,000)
Total State of Maryland revenues 146,395,929 146,395,929 145,916,073 (479,856)

Other sources:

Out of county living 23,000 23,000 79,066 56,066
Total other sources 23,000 23,000 79,066 56,066
TOTAL REVENUES 191,121,941 191,121,941 191,322,223 200,282

EXPENDITURES

Administration 5,142,396 5,142,396 4,992,598 149,798

School management and support 13,372,210 13,372,210 13,101,541 270,669

Instructional salaries 72,525,507 72,525,507 72,211,231 314,276

Textbooks and instructional supplies 2,875,273 2,875,273 2,861,588 13,685

Other instruction costs 2,359,123 2,242,963 1,666,994 575,969

Student personnel services 2,796,837 2,796,837 2,720,777 76,060

Health services 1,589,238 1,845,234 1,746,598 98,636

Student transportation 9,126,641 9,126,641 8,784,214 342,427
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THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF WICOMICO COUNTY

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES

EXPENDITURES (continued)
Operation of plant and equipment
Maintenance of plant
Fixed charges
Community services
Capital outlay
Special education
Food service

TOTAL EXPENDITURES

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES
OVER EXPENDITURES BEFORE OTHER
FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Appropriation from fund balance
Interfund transfers

TOTAL OTHER FINANCING
SOURCES (USES)

EXCESS OF REVENUES AND OTHER
FINANCING SOURCES OVER
EXPENDITURES AND OTHER
FINANCING USES

BUDGET AND ACTUAL
GENERAL FUND
Year Ended June 30, 2019
(Continued)

Budgeted Amounts

Variance With

Original Final Actual Final Budget
13,666,850 $ 13,666,510 $ 13,291,825 $ 374,685
4,416,948 4,416,948 4,374,350 42,598
40,170,123 40,179,127 40,177,964 1,163
173,666 173,666 170,985 2,681
8,656,697 8,656,697 8,613,438 43,259
17,516,861 17,368,361 16,561,349 807,012
450,000 450,000 450,000 -
194,838,370 194,838,370 191,725,452 3,112,918
(3,716,429) (3,716,429) (403,229) 3,313,200
2,316,429 2,316,429 2,316,429 -
1,400,000 1,400,000 1,435,643 (35,643)
3,716,429 3,716,429 3,752,072 (35,643)
-8 -8 3,348,843 $ 3,348,843
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THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF WICOMICO COUNTY

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES
BUDGET AND ACTUAL
SPECIAL REVENUE
Year Ended June 30, 2019

Budgeted Amounts Variance With
Original Final Actual Final Budget
REVENUES
Federal sources S 15,431,028 $ 15,431,028 $ 15,343,287 S (87,741)
State sources 1,759,533 1,759,533 1,766,464 6,931
Local and other sources 571,893 571,893 979,401 407,508
TOTAL REVENUES 17,762,454 17,762,454 18,089,152 326,698
EXPENDITURES
Administration 868,991 868,991 459,514 409,477
School management and support 162,659 162,659 195,659 (33,000)
Instructional salaries 5,172,229 5,172,229 5,194,555 (22,326)
Textbooks and instructional supplies 1,922,414 1,922,414 2,567,580 (645,166)
Other instruction costs 1,402,803 1,402,803 1,632,052 (229,249)
Special education 3,713,538 3,713,538 3,157,160 556,378
Student personnel services 450,851 450,851 390,596 60,255
Health services 11,810 11,810 11,159 651
Student transportation 329,282 329,282 340,130 (10,848)
Operation of plant and equipment - - 123,592 (123,592)
Maintenance of plant - - 20,924 (20,924)
Fixed charges 3,727,877 3,727,877 2,558,546 1,169,331
Community services - - 12,330 (12,330)
Food services - - 11,028
Capital outlay - - 149,954 (149,954)
TOTAL EXPENDITURES 17,762,454 17,762,454 16,824,779 948,703
EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES
OVER EXPENDITURES BEFORE OTHER
FINANCING SOURCES (USES) - - 1,264,373 1,264,373
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Interfund transfers - - (1,250,265) (1,250,265)
EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES AND
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES OVER
EXPENDITURES AND OTHER FINANCING USES S - S - S 14,108 S 14,108
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NOTES TO REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

Note 1. Budgetary Comparison Schedule
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The original budget, subsequent supplements and major transfers are approved by the Wicomico County Council.
Appropriations are for one year and lapse at year end. A legally adopted budget is prepared for the General Fund
and Special Revenue Fund. Amendments to the budget can be made with approval from Wicomico County and the
Board for inter-category transfers, and by approval of the Board for intra-category transfers. By law, actual
expenditures for each category and for each account within categories may not exceed budgeted expenditures.
The budgeted amounts presented include all budget revisions. A budget is adopted for the Capital Projects Fund
and the Food Service Fund for internal purposes only.

The Board of Education prepares its budget and accounts for certain transactions on a basis other than generally
accepted accounting principles (GAAP). Thus, there are two statements of revenues and expenditures for the
general fund in these statements; the first is prepared in accordance with GAAP and the second is prepared on the
budgetary basis in order to compare revenues and expenditures with budget. One of the differences between the
two statements is that increases (decreases) in asset account balances for prepaid expenditures and inventories
are accounted for as expenditure reductions or sources (increases or uses) on the GAAP basis financial statements,
but not on the budgetary financial statements. In addition, the appropriation from prior year fund balance is
accounted for as additional sources for budgetary purposes. Encumbrances are recorded as expenditures for
budgetary purposes but as assigned fund balance in the GAAP basis financial statements. Finally, the State’s share
of the pension and retirement fund contribution is recorded as revenue and expenditures on the GAAP basis
financial statements, but is not included on the budgetary financial statements.

Adjustments necessary to convert the results of operations and fund balances at the end of the year on the GAAP
basis to the budgetary basis are as follows:

Other
Financing
Revenues Expenditures Sources (Uses)
General Fund General Fund General Fund
June 30, 2019 June 30, 2019 June 30, 2019

GAAP Basis $ 203,253,681 S 204,361,647 $ 944,869
Changes in asset account balances
not accounted for on Budgetary Statement:

Health insurance rate stabilization reserve activity:

Proceeds from insurance settlement - - 1,509,020

Transfer to OPEB trust - (400,000) -

Interest earned on health care reserve (89,729) - -

Other expenditures - (235,017) -
Appropriation from June 30,2018 - - 2,316,429
Transfers to other funds recorded as

budgetary expenditures - 635,378 635,378

Encumbrances recorded as expenditures:

Established in current year - 6,723,571 -

Reversed from prior year - (5,864,774) -
Revenues recorded based on encumbered expenditures:

Established in current year - - -

Reversed from prior year - - -
State share of retirement and pension contribution (11,841,729) (11,841,729) -
Capital outlay funded by capital leases - (1,653,624) (1,653,624)
Budgetary Basis S 191,322,223 § 191,725,452 $ 3,752,072
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NOTES TO REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

Note 1. Budgetary Comparison Schedule (Continued)

Budget Calendar

The following calendar reflects the general sequence of events for the preparation and adoption of the operating
budget of The Board of Education of Wicomico County:

Approximate Date

Procedure Performed

Early September

Late September

October

Early November

Mid-November

Late December

Early January

Mid January

January - February

Early March

April
Late May

Late May

Early June

Mid-June

Late June

Board determines budget priorities and Superintendent and staff meet
to review these priorities.

Budget Manager distributes request packets to all employees

having budget responsibility.

Board members and staff make presentations of budget projections to
various community groups in an effort to maintain their involvement and
request their ideas and input for budget development process.
Employees with budget responsibility mustturn in all budget worksheets
noting new funding, reductions and/or funding realignments to Budget
Manager to commence budget compilation and also to their

Director for review.

Superintendent and Budget Team begin meetings to review/modify

all budget submissions.

Comptroller reviews with Superintendent preliminary ongoing "Cost

of Doing Business" submissions.

Board holds a Public Hearing to receive public input for the unrestricted
operating budget.

Superintendent instructs Budget Manager regarding budget requests

to compile for submission to the Board & determines with Assistant
Superintendents their priority order.

Budget work sessions with Board, Superintendent and staff.

Board adopts the Proposed Budget at their regular scheduled meeting
and submits the Proposed Budget to the Wicomico County Council.
Wicomico County Council has a public hearing to review their budget.
Board holds a second Public Hearing to receive additional public input
for the unrestricted operating budget.

Wicomico County Council adopts their Expense Budget & notifies the
Board of Education of our appropriation.

Superintendent and staff begin work to revise the proposed budget

(if required) based on the actual appropriation from the Wicomico
County Council.

Superintendent and staff submit their budget recommendations to the
Board of Education for their review.

Board of Education adopts the Approved Budget at a special meeting.
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NOTES TO REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

Note 2. Post-Employment Health Care Benefits

Changes in Benefit Terms:
There were no significant changes to benefit terms during the year.

Changes in Assumptions:

e |nvestment rate of return was changed from a blended rate of the long-term rate of return of 7.25% and
municipal bond rates of 3.6% at the beginning of the year to a blended rate of the long-term rate of
return of 6.50% and municipal bond rates of 3.9% at the end of the year.

e Update to the most recent mortality tables

e Trend rate: per-capita claims are projected to increase by 7.0% in 2019 decreasing linearly by 0.5% to an
ultimate trend rate of 4.50%.

Method and Assumptions used in Calculations of Actuarially Determined Contributions:

Actuarial Entry Age Normal

Amortization Method Level Percentage of Payroll, Open

Remaining Amortization Period 30 years

Asset Valuation Method Market Value of Assets

Inflation 2.50%

Salary Increases Age banded values ranging from 2.5% to 5.5%
Investment Rate of Return 4.45% for expense; based on a blended rate of

the long-term rate of return of 6.50% and
municipal bond rates of 3.9% at the end of the
year.

Medical Trend Per capita claims costs are projected to
increase by 7.0% in 2019 decreasing linearly
by 0.5% to an ultimate trend rate of 4.5%.

Mortality Pub-10 General Headcount-Weighted with
scale MP-2018 generational improvement and
a 3 year set forward.

Premium Equivalence Current pre-Medicare cost equivalent rates
are adjusted by age adjusting rates based
on the Society of Actuaries' 2013 study
"Health Care Costs - From Birth to Death."
Medicare supplement rates are assumed to
be age adjusted.
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NOTES TO REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

Note 3. Pension Plans

Teachers Retirement System and the Teachers Pension System

Changes in Benefit Terms:
There were no significant benefit changes during the year.

Changes in Assumptions:
Adjustments to the roll-forward liabilities were made to reflect the following assumption changes in the 2018
valuation:

e Salary increase assumption changed from 3.15% - 9.15% to 3.10% - 9.10%, including inflation
¢ Inflation assumption changed from 2.65% to 2.60% for general and 3.15% to 3.10% for wage

¢ Investment rate of return assumption changed from 7.50% to 7.45%

Method and Assumptions used in Calculations of Actuarially Determined Contributions:

Actuarial Entry Age Normal

Amortization Method Level Percentage of Payroll, Closed
Remaining Amortization Period 22 years for State system

Asset Valuation Method 5-year smoothed market; 20% collar
Inflation 2.60% general, 3.10% wage

Salary Increases 3.10% t0 9.10% including inflation
Investment Rate of Return 7.45%

Retirement Age Experience-based table of rates thatare

specific to the type of eligibility condition.
Last updated for the 2015 valuation pursuant
to an experience study of the period 2010-
2014.

Mortality RP-2014 Mortality Tables with generational
mortality projections using scale MP-2014,
calibrated to MSRPS experience.
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NOTES TO REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

Note 3. Pension Plans (Continued)

Retirement Plan for Employees of the Board of Education of Wicomico County

Changes in Benefit Terms:

There were no significant benefit changes during the year.

Changes in Assumptions:

¢ Update to the most recent mortality tables

Method and Assumptions used in Calculations of Actuarially Determined Contributions:

Actuarial

Amortization Method
Remaining Amortization Period
Asset Valuation Method
Inflation

Salary Increases

Investment Rate of Return
Retirement Age
Mortality

Entry Age Normal

Level Dollar, open basis

30 years

Market Value of Assets

2.50%

Age banded values ranging from 2.5% to
5.5%

6.50%

Graded from ages 55-64; 100% at age 65
Pub-2010 General Table as released by the
Society of Actuaries in 2019 set forward 3
years with scale MP2018 improvement.
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THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF WICOMICO COUNTY

SCHEDULE OF APPROPRIATIONS AND EXPENDITURES
GENERAL FUND - BUDGETARY BASIS
Year Ended June 30, 2019

Budgeted Amounts Variance With
Original Final Actual Final Budget
Administration:
Salaries and wages $ 3,740,451 $ 3,740,451 $ 3,671,645 $ 68,806
Contracted services 1,045,617 1,045,617 986,756 58,861
Supplies and materials 140,400 140,400 133,878 6,522
Other charges 170,282 170,282 155,730 14,552
Equipment - - - -
Transfers 45,646 45,646 44,589 1,057
Total administration 5,142,396 5,142,396 4,992,598 149,798
School management and support:
Salaries and wages 11,727,947 11,727,947 11,544,784 183,163
Contracted services 949,974 949,974 927,015 22,959
Supplies and materials 148,679 148,679 141,169 7,510
Other charges 518,952 518,952 462,976 55,976
Equipment - - - -
Transfers 26,658 26,658 25,597 1,061
Total school management and support 13,372,210 13,372,210 13,101,541 270,669
Instructional salaries and wages 72,525,507 72,525,507 72,211,231 314,276
Textbooks and instructional supplies 2,875,273 2,875,273 2,861,588 13,685
Other instructional costs:
Contracted services 983,243 983,243 903,983 79,260
Other charges 309,989 309,989 240,935 69,054
Equipment 7,700 7,700 6,393 1,307
Transfers 1,058,191 942,031 515,683 426,348
Total other instructional costs 2,359,123 2,242,963 1,666,994 575,969
Special education:
Salaries and wages 15,959,932 15,959,932 15,886,122 73,810
Contracted services 170,357 228,357 207,327 21,030
Supplies and materials 140,173 140,173 122,704 17,469
Other charges 90,200 90,200 68,583 21,617
Equipment - - - -
Transfers 1,156,199 949,699 276,613 673,086
Total special education $ 17,516,861 $ 17,368,361 $ 16,561,349 $ 807,012
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THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF WICOMICO COUNTY

SCHEDULE OF APPROPRIATIONS AND EXPENDITURES
GENERAL FUND - BUDGETARY BASIS
Year Ended June 30, 2019
(Continued)

Budgeted Amounts

Variance With

Original Final Actual Final Budget
Student personnel services:
Salaries and wages S 2,032,584 S 2,032,584 S 1,999,777 32,807
Contracted services 731,400 731,400 697,882 33,518
Supplies and materials 12,600 12,600 7,863 4,737
Other charges 17,305 17,305 12,421 4,884
Equipment - - - -
Transfers 2,948 2,948 2,834 114
Total student personnel services 2,796,837 2,796,837 2,720,777 76,060
Health services
Salaries and wages 1,514,514 1,547,760 1,502,862 44,898
Contracted services 14,000 139,250 89,609 49,641
Supplies and materials 54,026 54,026 51,144 2,882
Other charges 4,850 4,850 3,700 1,150
Equipment - 97,500 97,435 65
Transfers 1,848 1,848 1,848 -
Total health services 1,589,238 1,845,234 1,746,598 98,636
Student transportation:
Salaries and wages 1,164,634 1,239,634 1,198,311 41,323
Contracted services 7,284,560 7,162,560 6,890,505 272,055
Supplies and materials 154,500 201,500 178,695 22,805
Other charges 155,599 155,599 153,882 1,717
Equipment 362,500 362,500 358,364 4,136
Transfers 4,848 4,848 4,457 391
Total pupil transportation 9,126,641 9,126,641 8,784,214 342,427
Operation of plant:
Salaries and wages 6,033,765 5,933,765 5,886,904 46,861
Contracted services 1,975,535 1,742,895 1,736,118 6,777
Supplies and materials 1,195,805 1,448,955 1,443,682 5,273
Other charges 4,378,070 4,375,545 4,059,881 315,664
Equipment 80,000 161,150 161,042 108
Transfers 3,675 4,200 4,198 2
Total operation of plant 13,666,850 13,666,510 13,291,825 374,685
Maintenance of plant:
Salaries and wages 1,543,702 1,508,702 1,480,128 28,574
Contracted services 2,010,946 1,985,946 1,985,318 628
Supplies and materials 677,500 717,500 714,996 2,504
Other charges 17,500 17,500 7,257 10,243
Equipment 167,300 187,300 186,651 649
Total maintenance of plant S 4,416,948 S 4,416,948 S 4,374,350 42,598
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THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF WICOMICO COUNTY

SCHEDULE OF APPROPRIATIONS AND EXPENDITURES
GENERAL FUND - BUDGETARY BASIS
Year Ended June 30, 2019
(Continued)

Budgeted Amounts

Variance With

Original Final Actual Final Budget
Fixed charges:
Insurance and employee benefits S 40,170,123 S 40,179,127 S 40,177,964 S 1,163
Community services:

Salaries and wages 42,038 37,538 37,454 84

Contracted services 50,881 50,881 49,292 1,589

Supplies and materials 15,471 10,471 9,892 579

Other charges 46,916 39,416 38,988 428

Equipment 18,360 35,360 35,359 1
Total community services 173,666 173,666 170,985 2,681

Capital outlay:

Salaries and wages 780,821 780,821 743,871 36,950

Contracted services 1,530,120 1,530,120 1,527,948 2,172

Supplies and materials 178,500 304,500 304,334 166

Other charges 11,200 11,200 10,855 345

Equipment 6,156,056 6,030,056 6,026,430 3,626

Transfers - - - -
Total capital outlay 8,656,697 8,656,697 8,613,438 43,259

Food service:

Transfers 450,000 450,000 450,000 -
TOTAL EXPENDITURES 194,838,370 194,838,370 191,725,452 3,112,918
TOTAL APPROPRIATIONS

AND EXPENDITURES S 194,838,370 S 194,838,370 S 191,725,452 S 3,112,918
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THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF WICOMICO COUNTY

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES - BUDGET TO ACTUAL

CAPITAL PROJECTS - BUDGETARY BASIS

Year Ended June 30, 2019

Budgeted Amounts Variance With
Original Final Actual Final Budget
REVENUES
State sources $ 9,972,000 $ 9,972,000 S 11,631,185 S 1,659,185
Local and other sources 7,865,000 7,865,000 8,298,890 433,890
TOTAL REVENUES 17,837,000 17,837,000 19,930,075 2,093,075
EXPENDITURES
Capital outlay 19,349,812 19,349,812 20,645,623 (1,295,811)
TOTAL EXPENDITURES 19,349,812 19,349,812 20,645,623 (1,295,811)
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Appropriation from fund balance 1,512,812 1,512,812 1,512,812 -
1,512,812 1,512,812 1,512,812 -
EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES AND
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES OVER
EXPENDITURES AND OTHER FINANCING USES §$ - S - S 797,264 S 797,264

Adjustments necessary to convert the results of operations and net position at the end of the year on the

GAAP basis to the budgetary basis are as follows:

GAAP Basis
Appropriation from fund balance

Budgetary Basis
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Revenues

Expenditures

Other
Financing

Sources (Uses)

$

19,930,075 $ 20,645,623 $

1,512,812

$

19,930,075 $ 20,645,623 $

1,512,812




THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF WICOMICO COUNTY

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES - BUDGET TO ACTUAL
FOOD SERVICE - BUDGETARY BASIS

Year Ended June 30, 2019

Budgeted Amounts

Variance With

Original Final Actual Final Budget
REVENUES
Local sources S 1,138,497 S 1,138,497 S 1,193,756 S 55,259
State sources 160,000 160,000 203,284 43,284
Federal sources 6,461,803 6,461,803 6,644,196 182,393
TOTAL REVENUES 7,760,300 7,760,300 8,041,236 280,936
EXPENDITURES
Salaries and wages 2,649,188 2,649,188 2,481,420 167,768
Contracted services 144,600 144,600 68,437 76,163
Supplies and materials 4,260,321 4,260,321 3,960,259 300,062
Other charges 1,347,829 1,347,829 1,085,987 261,842
Capital outlay 90,000 90,000 102,895 (12,895)
TOTAL EXPENDITURES 8,491,938 8,491,938 7,698,998 792,940
OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) (731,638) (731,638) 342,238 1,073,876
OTHER RESOURCES
Interfund Transfer 450,000 450,000 450,000 -
Appropriation from fund balance 281,638 281,638 281,638 -
TOTAL OTHER RESOURCES 731,638 731,638 731,638 -
EXCESS OF REVENUES AND OTHER
RESOURCES OVER EXPENDITURES S - S - S 1,073,876 S 1,073,876
Adjustments necessary to convert the results of operations and net position at the end of the year on the
GAAP basis to the budgetary basis are as follows:
Other
Revenues Expenditures Resources
GAAP Basis S 8,041,236 $ 7,732,529 §$ 450,000
Appropriation from fund balance - - 281,638
Encumbrances established in current year - 103,167 -
Encumbrances reversed from prior year - (158,055) -
Principal payments on capital lease obligation - - -
Depreciation of capital assets - (73,578) -
Capital asset current year additions - 94,935 -
Budgetary Basis S 8,041,236 S 7,698,998 S 731,638
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THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF WICOMICO COUNTY

COMBINING SCHEDULE OF FIDUCIARY NET POSITION
PENSION AND RETIREE HEALTH PLAN TRUST FUNDS
June 30, 2019

Total Pension

401(a) and Retiree
Retirement Employees Retiree Health Health Plan
Plan Pension Plan Trust Trust Funds
ASSETS
Cash S 168,308 S 92,848 S 426,288 S 687,444
Trust investments
Government bonds 372,808 61,445 - 434,253
Commercial paper - 294,350 - 294,350
Mortgage loans 516,698 233,420 - 750,118
Corporate bonds 721,633 870,471 - 1,592,104
Common stock 2,576,516 - - 2,576,516
Mutual funds - 20,832,243 20,580,945 41,413,188
Other 4,360 1,794,481 1,745,000 3,543,841
Total assets 4,360,323 24,179,258 22,752,233 51,291,814
LIABILITIES
Advanced contributions - 183 - 183
NET POSITION
Held in Trust for:
Retirement and
other benefits 4,360,323 24,179,075 22,752,233 51,291,631
Total net position S 4,360,323 S 24,179,075 S 22,752,233 $ 51,291,631
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THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF WICOMICO COUNTY

COMBINING SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION
PENSION AND RETIREE HEALTH PLAN TRUST FUNDS
Year Ended June 30, 2019

Total Pension

401(a) and Retiree
Retirement Employees Retiree Health Health Plan
Plan Pension Plan Trust Trust Funds
ADDITIONS
Contributions:
Employer contributions S - S 797,962 S 4,714,139 S 5,512,101
Plan member contributions - 425,044 - 425,044
Total contributions - 1,223,006 4,714,139 5,937,145
Investment earnings:
Interest and dividends 272,670 979,971 884,634 2,137,275
Less: investment-related expense - (57,748) (50,571) (108,319)
Change in fair value of investments 135,069 (113,771) (109,833) (88,535)
Net investment earnings 407,739 808,452 724,230 1,940,421
Total additions 407,739 2,031,458 5,438,369 7,877,566
DEDUCTIONS
Pension benefit payments 154,249 1,806,186 3,883,057 5,843,492
Administrative expenses 8,729 45,957 - 54,686
Total deductions 162,978 1,852,143 3,883,057 5,898,178
Change in net position 244,761 179,315 1,555,312 1,979,388
Net position - beginning of year 4,115,562 23,999,760 21,196,921 49,312,243
Net position - end of year S 4,360,323 S 24,179,075 S§ 22,752,233 $§ 51,291,631
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THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF WICOMICO COUNTY

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN ASSETS AND LIABILITIES - AGENCY FUND
Year Ended June 30, 2019

Balance Balance
July 1, 2018 Additions Deductions June 30, 2019
ASSETS
Cash S 40,749 S 2,408,882 S 2,416,366 S 33,265
Accounts receivable 2,250 3,197 2,250 3,197
Due from other funds 515,199 115,217 - 630,416
Total assets 558,198 2,527,296 2,418,616 666,878
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 32,982 23,913 32,982 23,913
Due to school
activity groups 525,216 2,503,383 2,385,634 642,965
Total liabilities S 558,198 $ 2,527,296 S 2,418,616 S 666,878

92



STATISTICAL SECTION



STATISTICAL SECTION

This section of the Board's comprehensive annual financial report presents detailed information as a

context for understanding what the information in the financial statements, note disclosures, and
required supplementary information says about the Board's overall financial health.

CONTENTS

Financial Trends
These schedules contain trend information to help the reader understand how
the Board's financial performance and well-being have changed over time.
Net Position by Component - Last Ten Fiscal Years
Changes in Net Postiion - Last Ten Fiscal Years
Fund Balances of Governmental Funds - Last Ten Fiscal Years
Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds - Last Ten Fiscal Years
Approved Operating Budgets, General Fund - Last Ten Fiscal Years
Retiree Health Plan Trust
Retirement Plan for Employees of the Board of Education
of Wicomico County
Debt Capacity
This schedule presents information to help the reader assess the affordability of
the Board's current level of outstanding debt. The Board has no authority to issue
bond debt. Wicomico County, Maryland may incur bond debt on behalf of the
Board to fund capital improvements.
Ratios of Outstanding Debt

Demographic and Economic Information
These schedules offer demographic and economic indicators to help the reader
understand the environment within which the Board's financial activities
take place.
Enrollment by School - Last Ten Years
Enrollment by Grade - Last Ten Years
Budgeted Full Time Equivalent Positions by Function - Last Ten Fiscal Years
Demographic and Economic Statistics - Last Ten Years
Operating Information - Last Ten Fiscal Years
Where the Money Comes From - General Fund & Special Revenue Fund
(Current Expense Fund) - Last Ten Fiscal Years
Operating Information
These schedules contain service and infrastructure data to help the reader
understand how the information in the Board's financial report relates to the
services it provides and activities it performs.
Facilities Inventory
Capital Asset Statistics by Function
Insurance Summary
Property Tax Levies and Collections
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Schedule 8

The Board of Education of Wicomico County
Ratios of Outstanding Debt
Last Ten Fiscal Years

Governmental Business
Activities Activities
Total Percentage of

Fiscal Capital Capital Primary Personal Debt Per
Year Leases Leases Government Income (1) Capita (1)
2010 2,627,056 103,577 2,730,633 0.08% 27.66
2011 1,385,725 70,260 1,455,985 0.04% 14.55
2012 1,950,522 35,723 1,986,245 0.06% 19.75
2013 2,221,726 - 2,221,726 0.06% 22.03
2014 2,600,702 - 2,600,702 0.07% 25.66
2015 2,238,529 67,849 2,306,378 0.06% 22.66
2016 2,534,991 45,477 2,580,468 0.06% 25.27
2017 2,559,275 22,862 2,582,137 0.06% 25.23
2018 2,588,476 - 2,588,476 N/A 25.08
2019 2,489,003 - 2,489,003 N/A N/A

(1) See the Schedule of Demographic and Economic Statistics for personal income and population data.

N/A - Not available

105



901

6v6'71 €56yl 68871 06L1 SPSyl 1€ p1 68Yv1 0TSyl 8€Y1 61971 S[00YS IV [BI0L
£0T'Y €Ty [3ak% ¥80Y 886°¢ 1v6°¢ 9€6°€ v10Yy 200y ey S[00Y0S YSIH €10,
LL L 6S 19 99 09 8y S9 29 S9 SuruaAg A1unoy) ooTwoor Ay
6€0°1 €v0°l 650°1 9101 620°1 ¥€0°1 9€0°1 L8Ol 9T1°1 881°1 OJIWOdI M
(4N 161°1 8ST°1 IST°T PILL 0€I°l S60°1 STI‘l LET'T LIT1 opisiied
08¢ SLE 89¢ 6LE YLE 99¢ Is€ €9¢ 0LE 08¢ B[opIEN
L9S°1 (443! 66%°1 LLYT SOv°l 16€°1 90¥°1 YLE LOE' 8Tl nouusyg

S[00U3S USTH

8L0°E $86°C SP0°E v10°¢ 086°C vL6'T 1€0°¢ 9r0°¢ 866°C LY6°C S]00YDS SIPPIA [EI0L
L18 6CL 0IL 00L LS9 099 SS9 6¢9 80L €IL OJIOdT M
09L 959 SL S6L 8¢8 IL8 LT6 §T6 68 878 Amgsifes
1844 1474 [4%4 v [4%4 LYC LYC 09¢ 9¢€C £ 4 dasnld
96¢C LI€E €6¢ 88¢ €8¢ §8¢ ¥6C [4:Y4 8¢ 69¢ B[opIEN
¥96 6%0°1 8S0°1 066 0L6 L6 806 0€6 €76 988 nouusyg

S[00YdS SIPPIAL

899°L SYL'L T0L°L T69°L LLS'L 91S°L TTSL 09%°L 8¢€°L 0vS‘L S[00YDS ATejusWw[H [EJOL
00¢€ 0S¢ 9¢ 06¢€ R84 6T¢ 6T £0¢ 16T 9LT SPIBIIIAM
- - - - - - - - - - Surured| AjIesq 0d1ooI
601 €CC ¥T (454 1474 0S¢ 96T 44 69T 19T ArewiLid 9pIsisom
11T 90t (8874 90t 1§54 LEY 1414 96t oY YLy Q)BIPIULIU] SPISISO M
[4%3 - - 1483 01¢ 453 01¢ S6¢ €0¢ S6¢ Amgqsies 1sOM
19L 98L LYL 11 159 009 1245 c6v I8¢ 19S 199§ douLld
€L1 8LI 991 Lyl ovl 97T L1T 0Tc 11T 9¢€C d[[aspld
0LS 9S (443 1459 1434 £8% 96t 194 [£i4 8¢y ysiyaulg
8LS €96 oS S9¢ 6¢€S 619 9¢9 919 809 ¥S9 uonequIdg
81¢ 8C¢ 60¢ 0¢ I1e (Y43 L0€ 98¢ 68T L8T WINSIMYLION
Ly 29 S79 Sty (454 6Ch (1124 10§ 1489 9% Amgsies yuoN
(Y44 Siy (Y44 Siy 89¢C 99¢ L1g 1433 €LT G8¢ QNUAAY U[D
Iey 89 S8Yy 60S 1€s €0S €€s 90§ 3344 LY Arewiid puepnig
LLY 0Ly (414 9ty (344 (454 8¢ 6L¢ °6¢ ILE QIBIPIWLINU] puepIL{
Y9t 661 9% 9474 444 16€ L8€E 304 0LE €9¢ Amgsies 1seq
SLS LS8 188 €68 (Y4 608 9T8 LT8 1€8 YL6 Tewppq
9LT SOy 6Tt (443 81y 08¢ €LE 66¢€ 9TY 9ty uewdrg)
865 609 €9 999 SOL SIL L 999 19 019 uny 1wAedq

S[00YDS ATEJUIWI

0|
—
>
N
|
|
S
N
\O|
—
>
N
w)|
|
S
N
e
—
>
N
o)
|
S
N
(o]
—(
>
N
v
|
N
=
—
>
N
D
=
S
N

1edx
‘o€ 1quidndag jyo se

SIBI X UIJ, JSe] [00YdS Aq Juduufjour]

£)uno)) 0d1WOIIA\ JO UOnEINPY JO pieog YL,

6 9INPaYIS




LOT

‘uonisod Aq pafojduiry fjv1§ 7 2]quL ‘suonvaygndg Jjvis ‘uoyponps Jo juaunivdaq 103§ punjlimpy - [

"SPA0D2.L (JUN0Y) 021102141 f0 UoyPINPH JO pavog Y]

1:€1 I:€1 1:€1 I:€1 1:€1 I:€1 1:€1 I:€1 1:€1 I:€1

ov1°1 6€1°1 vTI'l 601°1 $60°1 ¥80°1 ¥80°1 8L0°I 7o'l L80°1
6651 €561 688°%1 06L°t1 SPSYI (3ad! 685°%1 0TSt 1 8€p1 6191
vOTY €Ty Wiy ¥80°Y 886°€ r6'¢ 9€6'€ v10Y 200" €y
186 €96 €86 €16 $¥6 916 €16 €20°1 896 8L6

186 £66 96 $66 $06 Lv6 926 106 620°1 7€0°1
690°1 ¥L0°T 850°1 pr0°1 1€0°1 296 910°1 €96 296 $90°1
191°1 €61°1 LET'T ze11 L01°1 911°1 180°1 LTI €40°1 LS0°T
LLO'E $86C 950°€ v10°€ 086C V16T 1€0°€ ov0°E 866C Lv6C
100°1 110°T LEO'T 86 66 266 620°1 LL6 900°1 €6

LS6 ¥00°1 110°1 720°1 vL6 166 966 o'l 086 S10°
611°1 0L6 866 010°1 710°1 $86 900°1 LT0°1 710°1 866

899°L SPL'L T10L°L 69°L LLS'L 915°L S'L 09%'L 8€°L 0vS'L
801°1 €01°1 €86 ¥00°1 696 6L6 886 866 p10°1 €91°1
€571 €Tl 0LT STI'l SEI°T 6€1°1 0S1°1 191°1 $91° L1
0121 vl VTl vOT'1 LTIl LETT 8K1°1 €81°1 8€1°1 pS1°1
0S1°1 LIl 8€T°1 €Tl 6LT1 0z1°1 0S1°1 0S1°1 yS1°T 0€1°1
AR (AN 0121 $9T°1 LLTT LIET N Po1°1 S91° Y0z 1
€11 eIl 951°1 v61°1 91T €€Tl 1€€°1 0S1°1 YLIT ST
9t9 $99 665 L8S vLS 16S 119 59 s L9S

8107 JAT4 9107 ST07 7l T0 414 TT0C 0107 6007
B(:2) ¢

15204108
SI9YOELD) 0) SJUIPMIS JO oLy
,819Y0EBR) JO JqUINN

JUSWI[[OIUD [10 ]

[00Y9S Y3IH [e10L
uoneonpy [eroadg

4!
!
0l
6 opeln
10035 WBTH
10012 SPPIA [EI0L
uonjeonpy [eroodg
8
L
9 opein

[00Y9S S[PPIA

[00U9S ATejuowaly [e10]

uorneonpy [eroadg

S
14
€
[4
I

opein
udue3Iapury|
U9IB3IpUT-1d

[00Y2S ATejudouId|y

‘0¢ 19quddag jo se

SIBIX U], JSer] dpet) Aq judumfjoruy
£)uno)) 0dMMOIIA\ JO UOEINPT JO pIeog YL,

01 d[npayds§




80T

"§PA022.4 AJUN0D) 021101 JO UODINPT fO pADOg Y] :22.4N0S

%PL'T 86°TLTT 0€'TST'T LE1TTT SEI81°C 01'991°C 60°S91°C 0€LSTT CIILIT 60°S81°C L6'T1TT
%CE 6 9¢°L81 80°'8LI 09vL1 80°0LI €0°6S1 9t°891 SS891 L8°T0T L0°€0T 79'90T
%86'¢ T7T'S80°C TTYLOT LL'9Y0T LTTI10C LO'L00‘T £9°966°1 SL'886°T 97'896°1 70°286°1 S€'S00°C
%LY €T 09°6 0S8 056 SL'L SL'L SL'L SL'L SL9 SL9 SL'L
%00°0 050 050 050 0S50 050 050 050 050 050 0S50
%9811 S10¢ 00°T¢ 00°T¢ SL'TE SL'TE ST6C STLT STLT STLT S§T9C
%86t SI'191 00091 00°6S1 00°6S1 00°6S1 05951 05°¢ST 0S'tS1 0S'+S1 05°¢ST
%101 00°6 00°6 00'8 00'8 00'8 00°L 00°L 00°L 16'8 16'8
%00°0 00'v¢ 00'v¢ 00'v¢ 00'tv¢ 00'v¢ 00'v¢ 00'v¢ 00°€¢ 00°S¢ 00'v¢
%69'8C 0S°0¢ 00°0¢ 00'8¢C 0S°LT 05°9C 91°LT 05°ST 0T'ST 0TvT 0L°€T
%0S°L LEYYE LY'vhe LELEE LL0OEE LL'TEE LT1EE 0€'9C¢ SOLIE SOLIE Se0Ce
%98'C SEBITT SETITT 06'S61°1 06'TLT‘T 0L'991°1 0T #91°1 SYOLT‘T 10°191°1 98°€91°1 6V ¥81°l
%LS0 0L’¢g61 o1°161 0T'061 08°L81 08°L81 0€°L81 0L't81 0T¥81 07681 09°761
%ET'T 06°¢€S 0€vS 0¢'es 0€'Cs 0€'Cs 08'1S 08'1S 08'1S 08'tS 0¢'es

610T-010T 10T 10T 10T 10T S10T 10T €107 7107 1102 10T

Jduey) 0€ dung jo se sadAojdwry Judfearnby swn-[ing pajespng
EXALICRRER |

spuny [[¢ [2)0L

Spun,j INuIAY [erdadg

[el0L

Kepno reyde)

SQOIAIRS AjTunwItio))

90IAI0S POO

juerd Jo oouruURIUIRIA

juowdinba pue jued jo uoneradQ
uoneyrodsuer) Juopny§

S9OIAILS P[BOH

S901AI0S [ounosIad Juopmyg
uoneonpa [erads

SOLIE[ES [BUOTIONI)SU]

110ddns pue juswoFeuew [00YdS
UONRI)STUTIPY

Tpun, [eIouon)

SIBI X [BISL] UI ], Iser|

uonduny Aq suonisod judreAmbyy swiy -[ng pajaspng

£)uno)) 0dMMOIIA\ JO UOEINPT JO pIeog YL,

L1 3[Mpaydg




Schedule 12
The Board of Education of Wicomico County

Demographic and Economic Statistics

Last Ten Years

Personal Per
Income (2) Capita Civilian
(thousands Personal Labor Unemployment

Year Population (1) of dollars) Income (2) Force (3) Rate (3)
2010 98,733 3,393,429 34,312 50,382 9.8%
2011 100,051 3,488,778 34,884 50,546 9.8%
2012 100,556 3,536,872 35,203 50,476 9.4%
2013 100,850 3,606,193 35,719 50,137 8.7%
2014 101,368 3,775,965 37,187 50,032 7.8%
2015 101,800 3,973,609 38,816 50,195 6.8%
2016 102,136 4,074,577 39,722 50,465 6.3%
2017 102,363 4,209,176 40,896 50,747 5.9%
2018 103,195 N/A N/A 51,040 5.3%
2019 N/A N/A N/A 51,578 5.0%

Sources:

(@) Population Estimates are from the U.S. Census Bureau and represent estimates as of July 1st of each year.

2) Bureau of Economic Analysis, U.S. Department of Commerce. (Income data for 2018 and 2019 is not currently available.)

3) Bureau of Labor Statistics, U.S. Department of Labor.

* Civilian Labor Force and Unemployment Rate for 2019 are preliminary based on information through July 31, 2019.

N/A Not Available
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Schedule 13
The Board of Education of Wicomico County
Operating Information
Last Ten Fiscal Years

Per Pupil Expenditures # Education Efforts
State State Local Local Education State EE
Fiscal Year Dollars Average Rank * Appropriation Wealth Effort (EE) Average

2010 $12,457 $13,297 11 50,781,711 4,416,144,536 0.0110 0.0130
2011 $12,577 $13,453 13 43,196,892 4,319,315,727 0.0100 0.0130
2012 $12,241 $13,375 17 36,196,892 4,101,088,530 0.0090 0.0130
2013 $12,610 $13,572 16 39,173,593 3,945,200,647 0.0099 0.0140
2014 $12,901 $13,745 16 40,520,465 3,868,116,751 0.0105 0.0125
2015 $13,094 $13,893 15 40,396,119 3,824,721,607 0.0106 0.0127
2016 $13,321 $13,966 13 41,306,646 3,882,135,176 0.0106 0.0129
2017 $13,358 $14,256 15 41,933,294 3,986,712,303 0.0105 0.0129
2018 $13,843 $14,484 13 43,605,002 4,072,824,511 0.0107 0.0129
2019 N/A N/A N/A 44,164,012 4,196,612,536 0.0105 0.0129

# Per Pupil Expenditures is calculated by the Maryland State Department of Education: see selected Financial Data Maryland Public Schools,
Part 3 - Analysis of Costs, Table 1: Cost per Public Elementary and Secondary Pupil Belonging for Current Expenses.

s Education effort is calculated by dividing local education appropriation by local wealth and indexing to State average.
* Ranking of the State's 24 School Systems.
N/A - Not Available
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Schedule 15

The Board of Education of Wicomico County

Facilities Inventory

SCHOOLS:

BEAVER RUN ELEMENTARY
CHIPMAN ELEMENTARY
DELMAR ELEMENTARY

EAST SALISBURY ELEMENTARY
FRUITLAND INTERMEDIATE
FRUITLAND PRIMARY

GLEN AVENUE ELEMENTARY
NORTH SALISBURY ELEMENTARY
NORTHWESTERN ELEMENTARY
PEMBERTON ELEMENTARY
PINEHURST ELEMENTARY
PRINCE STREET ELEMENTARY
WEST SALISBURY ELEMENTARY*1
WESTSIDE INTERMEDIATE
WESTSIDE PRIMARY

WILLARDS ELEMENTARY
BENNETT MIDDLE'

PITTSVILLE ELEM./MIDDLE
WICOMICO MIDDLE

SALISBURY MIDDLE SCHOOL
J.M. BENNETT HIGH

MARDELA MIDDLE/HIGH
PARKSIDE HIGH SCHOOL
WICOMICO HIGH

CENTRAL OFFICES:

Jersey Road Warehouse (Bldg D)
Morris Street (Transportation, Bldg H)
Site Grounds Shop (Bldg I)

Mt Hermon and Long Avenue Site-Annex 4

Mt Hermon and Long Avenue Site-Annex 5

Mt Hermon and Long Avenue Site-Central

Mt Hermon and Long Avenue Site-Facility
Mt Hermon and Long Avenue Site-Maintenance

Mt Hermon and Long Avenue Site-Warehouse

Civic Avenue-County Stadium

Schumaker Drive-Instructional Resource Center

Northgate Drive-Central

OTHER SCHOOLS:
Calloway Street-Choices Facility
Beaglin Park Drive-Tech Ed.

Roberts Street-Wicomico Early Learning Center

*Year Constructed has been adjusted to year of last major renovation.

'New facility opens August 2018 for students.

Source: The Board of Education of Wicomico County records.

Year
Constructed Acreage Sq Ft. area
1958 16.14 58,893
1986 6.5 40,752
1978 10.2 76,832
1942 12.1 61,889
1990 * 10 43,712
1955 18 56,308
1964 15 55,068
2006 8 76,999
1966 11.48 26,800
2001 18.78 73,917
1988 * 8.9 76,224
2008 14.8 73,830
2018 14.11 60,833
1999 10.5 54,797
1956 18 20,569
2003 42 51,247
2015 35.38 161,304
1956 13.46 79,335
1931 16 135,750
1999 75.68 143,519
2010 69.26 247,202
1958 39.79 87,633
1974 55.60 164,178
1996 * 62.1 195,941
various 17,555
various 9,960
various 22,730
various 960
various 960
various 15,486
various 16,439
various 4,704
various 8,640
various 3,600
various 2,012
Leased
various 20,860
1997 113,546
various 11,321
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Schedule 17

The Board of Education of Wicomico County
Insurance Summary

7/01/18 - 6/30/19 policy dates

Type of Coverage Name of Company Policy Number Policy Period Limits
Workers' Compensation and Employers Liability MABE Workers' Compensation N/A 7/01/18 - 6/30/19  Workers Compensation - Statutory
Group Self-Insurance Fund Benefits; Employers Liability - $1

million

Comprehensive General Liability MABE Group Insurance Pool ~ N/A 7/01/18 - 6/30/19  $400,000 per occurrence
$1 million per occurrence should
sovereign immunity be abrogated

Personal & Advertising Injury Liability MABE Group Insurance Pool ~ N/A 7/01/18 - 6/30/19  $400,000 per occurrence
$1 million per occurrence should
sovereign immunity be abrogated

Employee Benefit Plan Fiduciary Liability MABE Group Insurance Pool ~ N/A 7/01/18 - 6/30/19  $400,000 each claim with
$400,000 annual maximum

Automobile Liability MABE Group Insurance Pool ~ N/A 7/01/18 - 6/30/19  $400,000 combined single limit
$1 million combined single limit
for contracted buses

Personal Injury Protection - MD MABE Group Insurance Pool ~ N/A 7/01/18 - 6/30/19  $2,500 per covered person for any
one accident

Maryland Uninsured Motorist MABE Group Insurance Pool ~ N/A 7/01/18 - 6/30/19  $50,000 per accident

Automobile Physical Damage MABE Group Insurance Pool ~ N/A 7/01/18 - 6/30/19  actual cash value

Garage Keepers Legal Liability MABE Group Insurance Pool ~ N/A 7/01/18 - 6/30/19  $100,000 per loss

Criminal Proceeding and Intentional Conduct ~ MABE Group Insurance Pool ~ N/A 7/01/18 - 6/30/19  $50,000 per covered person

Defense Fund $100,000 annual aggregate

Property MABE Group Insurance Pool ~ N/A 7/01/18 - 6/30/19  $1 billion per occurrence with
various sublimits

Equipment Breakdown MABE Group Insurance Pool ~ N/A 7/01/18 - 6/30/19  $100 million per occurrence with
various sublimits

Crime MABE Group Insurance Pool ~ N/A 7/01/18 - 6/30/19  $2,500,000 per loss

Crime - Excess MABE Group Insurance Pool ~ N/A 7/01/18 - 6/30/19  $2,500,000 per loss in excess of
$2,500,000 primary

School Board Legal Liability MABE Group Insurance Pool ~ N/A 7/01/18 - 6/30/19  $5,000,000 per claim
$5,000,000 annual aggregate

Cyber MABE Group Insurance Pool ~ N/A 7/01/18 - 6/30/19  $2,000,000 per claim

Excess Cyber MABE Group Insurance Pool =~ N/A 7/01/18 - 6/30/19  $3,000,000 per claim

Catastrophic Student Accident AIG SRG 0009151309  8/01/18 - 8/01/19  $6,000,000 Medical Expense

Fiduciary Responsibility Liability Travelers 105970192 8/01/18 - 8/01/19  $3,000,000 per claim

Pollution Liability - Mardela WWTP Admiral Insurance FEIEIL 21767 00  7/11/18 - 7/11/21 = $1,000,000 per accident

Pollution Liability - above ground storage tanks

Student Accident Insurance - football

Admiral Insurance

K& K Insurance

Source: The Board of Education of Wicomico County Records
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FEI EIL 16272 00

6/30/19 - 6/30/22

JXS0000028675000 8/01/18 - 8/01/19

$1,000,000 per claim
$2,000,000 Total for all

$25,000 per claim
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WICOMICO COUNTY

X

[}
PUBLIC SCHOOLS

SUCCESS - Every Student, Every Day

Board of Education of Wicomico County
2424 Northgate Drive, Suite 100 ¢ Salisbury, Maryland 21802
www.wcboe.org
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